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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

________________________________ 
FORM 10-Q

 ________________________________ 
(Mark One)

    x   QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2015 
or

o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934

For the transition period from          to         
Commission file number: 001-33520
 ________________________________ 
 comScore, Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

 ________________________________ 

Delaware 54-1955550
(State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer
Identification Number)

11950 Democracy Drive, Suite 600
Reston, VA 20190

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
(703) 438-2000
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

 ________________________________ 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes  ý    No  ¨
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate website, if any,
every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of
this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and
post such files).    Yes  ý    No  ¨
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer,
or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting
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company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large accelerated filer ý Accelerated filer o
Non-accelerated filer o  (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company o
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act).    Yes  ¨    No  ý
Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer’s classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable
date: As of May 4, 2015, there were 40,483,660 shares of the registrant’s common stock outstanding.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including the sections entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk” under
Items 2 and 3, respectively, of Part I of this report, and the sections entitled “Legal Proceedings,” “Risk Factors,” and
“Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds” under Items 1, 1A and 2, respectively, of Part II of this
report, may contain forward-looking statements. These statements may relate to, but are not limited to, expectations of
future operating results or financial performance, macroeconomic trends that we expect may influence our business,
plans for capital expenditures, expectations regarding the introduction of new products, regulatory compliance and
expected changes in the regulatory landscape affecting our business, expected impact of litigation and litigation
settlements, including the expected contribution by insurance providers, plans for growth and future operations,
effects of acquisitions, as well as assumptions relating to the foregoing. Forward-looking statements are inherently
subject to risks and uncertainties, some of which cannot be predicted or quantified. These risks and other factors
include, but are not limited to, those listed under the section entitled “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of Part II of this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as
“may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “intend,” “potential,” “continue,” “seek” or the
negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. These statements are only predictions. Actual events and/or
results may differ materially.
We believe that it is important to communicate our future expectations to our investors. However, there may be events
in the future that we are not able to accurately predict or control and that may cause our actual results to differ
materially from the expectations we describe in our forward-looking statements. Except as required by applicable law,
including the securities laws of the United States and the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission, we do not plan to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of any
new information, future events or otherwise, other than through the filing of periodic reports in accordance with the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Investors and potential investors should not place undue reliance on
our forward-looking statements. Before you invest in our common stock, you should be aware that the occurrence of
any of the events described in the “Risk Factors” section and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q could
harm our business, prospects, operating results and financial condition. Although we believe that the expectations
reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity,
performance or achievements.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements 
COMSCORE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

March 31,
2015

December 31,
2014

(Unaudited)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $40,854 $43,015
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $2,519 and $2,079, respectively 83,502 98,185
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 13,551 11,015
Deferred tax assets 19,718 20,976
Assets held for sale 5,602 5,692
Total current assets 163,227 178,883
Property and equipment, net 45,370 42,365
Other non-current assets 969 1,017
Long-term deferred tax assets 12,683 12,369
Intangible assets, net 13,797 15,793
Goodwill 101,290 103,525
Total assets $337,336 $353,952
Liabilities and Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $6,232 $3,421
Accrued expenses 26,059 37,212
Deferred revenues 90,535 92,013
Deferred rent 1,645 1,738
Capital lease obligations 14,239 13,353
       Current liabilities held for sale 4,150 3,873
Total current liabilities 142,860 151,610
Deferred rent, long-term 9,433 9,738
Deferred revenue, long-term 1,126 2,063
Deferred tax liabilities, long-term 1,058 1,182
Capital lease obligations, long-term 13,023 13,072
Other long-term liabilities 751 1,022
Total liabilities 168,251 178,687
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share; 5,000,000 shares authorized; no
shares issued or outstanding — —

Common stock, $0.001 par value per share; 100,000,000 shares authorized;
36,267,082 shares issued and 34,441,547 outstanding as of March 31, 2015 and
35,919,340 shares issued and 34,174,466 shares outstanding at December 31,
2014, respectively

36 36

Additional paid-in capital 333,442 324,176
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (9,956 ) (5,591 )
Accumulated deficit (100,401 ) (93,076 )

(54,036 ) (50,280 )

Edgar Filing: COMSCORE, INC. - Form 10-Q

5



Treasury stock, at cost, 1,825,535 and 1,744,874 shares as of March 31, 2015
and December 31, 2014, respectively
Total stockholders’ equity 169,085 175,265
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $337,336 $353,952

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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COMSCORE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Three Months Ended March 31,
2015 2014

Revenues $87,329 $76,899
Cost of revenues (excludes amortization of intangible assets) (1) 24,892 23,441
Selling and marketing (1) 27,331 26,066
Research and development (1) 18,006 12,477
General and administrative (1) 25,001 13,344
Amortization of intangible assets 1,379 1,955
Settlement of litigation, net (90 ) (80 )
Total expenses from operations 96,519 77,203
Loss from operations (9,190 ) (304 )
Interest and other expense, net (392 ) (203 )
Loss from foreign currency (72 ) (153 )
Loss before income tax provision (9,654 ) (660 )
Income tax benefit (provision) 2,329 (122 )
Net loss $(7,325 ) $(782 )
Net loss available to common stockholders per common share:
Basic $(0.22 ) $(0.02 )
Diluted $(0.22 ) $(0.02 )
Weighted-average number of shares used in per share calculation - common
stock:
Basic 33,793,582 33,822,835
Diluted 33,793,582 33,822,835

Comprehensive loss:
Net loss $(7,325 ) $(782 )
Other comprehensive loss:
Foreign currency translation adjustment (4,365 ) (158 )
Total comprehensive loss $(11,690 ) $(940 )

(1)    Amortization of stock-based compensation is included in the line items above as follows:
Cost of revenues $2,209 $725
Selling and marketing $3,747 $2,396
Research and development $2,183 $725
General and administrative $13,616 $3,377
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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COMSCORE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except share data) 

Common Stock Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income/(Loss)

Accumulated
Deficit

Treasury
stock, at
cost

Total
Stockholders’
EquityShares Amount

Balance at December
31, 2013 35,216,071 $36 $293,322 $1,726 $(83,173 ) $(13,109 ) $198,802

Net loss — — — — (782 ) — (782 )
Foreign currency
translation adjustment — — — (158 ) — — (158 )

Exercise of common
stock options 4,866 — 15 — — — 15

Issuance of restricted
stock 193,006 — — — — — —

Restricted stock
canceled (8,590 ) — — — — — —

Restricted stock units
vested 316,395 — — — — — —

Common stock
received for tax
withholding

(304,636 ) — (9,581 ) — — — (9,581 )

Repurchases of
common stock (755,373 ) (21,498 ) (21,498 )

Excess tax benefits
from stock based
compensation, net

— — 265 — — — 265

Amortization of stock
based compensation — — 11,974 — — — 11,974

Balance at March 31,
2014 34,661,739 $36 $295,995 $1,568 $(83,955 ) $(34,607 ) $179,037

Balance at December
31, 2014 34,174,466 $36 $324,176 $(5,591 ) $(93,076 ) $(50,280 ) $175,265

Net loss — — — — (7,325 ) — (7,325 )
Foreign currency
translation adjustment — — — (4,365 ) — — (4,365 )

Exercise of common
stock options 59,214 — 2,363 — — — 2,363

Issuance of restricted
stock 175,287 — — — — — —

Restricted stock
canceled (1,650 ) — — — — — —

Restricted stock units
vested 545,669 — — — — — —

Common stock
received for tax

(430,778 ) — (21,660 ) — — — (21,660 )
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withholding
Repurchase of common
stock (80,661 ) — — — — (3,756 ) (3,756 )

Amortization of stock
based compensation — — 28,563 — — — 28,563

Balance at March 31,
2015 34,441,547 $36 $333,442 $(9,956 ) $(100,401 ) $(54,036 ) $169,085

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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COMSCORE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)
(In thousands)

Three Months Ended March 31,
2015 2014

Operating activities
Net loss $(7,325 ) $(782 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 5,010 4,183
Amortization of intangible assets 1,379 1,955
Provision for bad debts 985 500
Stock-based compensation 21,755 7,223
Amortization of deferred rent (446 ) (255 )
Deferred tax provision (benefit) 515 (255 )
Loss (gain) on asset disposal — (20 )
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 12,116 2,107
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (3,173 ) (2,505 )
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities (4,181 ) 2,378
Deferred revenues 1,140 4,810
Deferred rent 88 36
Net cash provided by operating activities 27,863 19,375

Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment (1,402 ) (1,873 )
Net cash used in investing activities (1,402 ) (1,873 )

Financing activities
Proceeds from the exercise of common stock options 2,363 15
Repurchase of common stock (withholding taxes) (21,660 ) (9,581 )
Repurchase of common stock (treasury shares) (3,756 ) (21,498 )
Excess tax benefits from stock based compensation — 265
Principal payments on capital lease obligations (3,793 ) (2,707 )
Net cash used in financing activities (26,846 ) (33,506 )
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (1,776 ) 2
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,161 ) (16,002 )
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 43,015 67,795
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $40,854 $51,793

Supplemental cash flow disclosures
Interest paid $388 $315
Net income taxes paid $637 $172
Supplemental noncash investing and financing activities
Capital lease obligations incurred $4,639 $2,128
Leasehold improvements acquired through lease incentives $396 $—
Accrued capital expenditures $4,209 $1,309
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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COMSCORE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Organization
comScore, Inc. (the “Company”), a Delaware corporation incorporated in August 1999, provides digital media analytics
that enables its customers to make well-informed, data-driven decisions to effectively manage their business, build
successful digital strategies and tactics, and optimize their marketing and advertising investments. The Company is a
technology-driven company that measures what people do as they navigate the digital world across multiple
technology platforms including personal computers, smartphones, tablets, televisions and interact with digital media,
including websites, apps, video programming and advertising. The Company aspires to measure all digital interactions
across all major digital platforms, at scale, on a global basis.
The Company's products and services provide its customers with deep and actionable insight into consumer behavior
including objective, detailed information about consumer usage of digital content and advertising coupled with
information on consumer demographic characteristics, attitudes, lifestyles and offline behavior. The Company is
skilled in combining proprietary Company data with its clients’ own data, as well as data from partners, to provide
uniquely valuable digital media analytics. The Company delivers on-demand and real-time products and services
through a scalable Software-as-Service delivery model which supports both Company branded products and also
partner products integrating the Company's data and services.  

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Consolidation
The accompanying interim consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its
wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated upon
consolidation. The Company consolidates investments where it has a controlling financial interest. The usual
condition for controlling financial interest is ownership of a majority of the voting interest and, therefore, as a general
rule, ownership, directly or indirectly, of more than 50% of the outstanding voting shares is a condition indicating
consolidation. All of the Company's subsidiaries are wholly owned.
Unaudited Interim Financial Information
The consolidated interim financial statements included in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q have been prepared by
the Company without audit, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”). Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in consolidated interim financial statements
prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) have been condensed or omitted
pursuant to such rules and regulations. However, the Company believes that the disclosures contained in this quarterly
report comply with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), as
amended, for a quarterly report on Form 10-Q and are adequate to make the information presented not misleading.
The consolidated interim financial statements included herein, reflect all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring
adjustments) which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation of the financial position,
results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods presented. These consolidated interim financial statements
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto contained in the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014, filed February 20, 2015 with the SEC. The
results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2015 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be
anticipated for the entire year ending December 31, 2015 or thereafter. All references to March 31, 2015 and 2014 or
to the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 in the notes to the consolidated interim financial statements are
unaudited.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the
reported amounts of revenue and expense during the reporting periods. Significant estimates and assumptions are
inherent in the analysis and the measurement of deferred tax assets, the identification and quantification of income tax
liabilities due to uncertain tax positions, recoverability of intangible assets, other long-lived assets and goodwill,
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accruals related to outstanding litigation, the collectability of accounts receivable and the allowance for doubtful
accounts. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and assumptions that it believes are reasonable.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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Fair Value Measurements
The Company evaluates the fair value of certain assets and liabilities using the fair value hierarchy. Fair value is an
exit price representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined
based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering
such assumptions, the Company applies the three-tier value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring
fair value as follows:
         Level 1 — observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets;
         Level 2 — inputs other than the quoted prices in active markets that are observable either directly or indirectly;
         Level 3 — unobservable inputs of which there is little or no market data, which require the Company to develop its
own assumptions.
The Company does not currently have any assets or liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.
However, cash equivalents, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other assets, accounts payable, accrued
expenses, deferred revenue, deferred rent and capital lease obligations reported in the consolidated balance sheets
equal or approximate their respective fair values because of their short term nature.
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and are non-interest bearing. The Company generally grants
uncollateralized credit terms to its customers and maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts to reserve for
potentially uncollectible receivables. Allowances are based on management’s judgment, which considers historical
experience and specific knowledge of accounts where collectability may not be probable. The Company makes
provisions based on historical bad debt experience, a specific review of all significant outstanding invoices and an
assessment of general economic conditions. If the financial condition of a customer deteriorates, resulting in an
impairment of its ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. Included within accounts
receivable are unbilled accounts receivable, which relate to situations in which the Company has recognized revenue
for services performed prior to invoicing a customer, but for which we have the legal right to invoice the customer.
Typically, unbilled accounts receivable are invoiced in the following period.
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenues when the following fundamental criteria are met: (i) persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists, (ii) delivery has occurred or the services have been rendered, (iii) the fee is fixed or determinable,
and (iv) collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured.
The Company generates revenues by providing access to the Company’s online database or delivering information
obtained from the database, usually in the form of periodic reports. Revenues are typically recognized on a
straight-line basis over the period in which access to data or reports is provided, which generally ranges from three to
twenty-four months. Sales taxes remitted to government authorities are recorded on a net basis.
Revenues are also generated through survey services under contracts ranging in term from two months to one year.
Survey services consist of survey and questionnaire design with subsequent data collection, analysis and reporting. At
the outset of an arrangement, total arrangement consideration is allocated between the development of the survey
questionnaire and subsequent data collection, analysis and reporting services based on relative selling price. Revenue
allocated to the survey questionnaire is recognized when it is delivered and revenue allocated to the data collection,
analysis and reporting services is recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated data collection period once the
survey or questionnaire design has been delivered. Any change in the estimated data collection period results in an
adjustment to revenues recognized in future periods.
Certain of the Company’s arrangements contain multiple elements, consisting of the various services the Company
offers. Multiple element arrangements typically consist of either subscriptions to multiple online products or a
subscription to the Company’s online database combined with customized services. The Company accounts for these
arrangements in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Update
(“ASU”) 2009-13, Multiple Deliverable Revenue Arrangements, which requires the Company to allocate arrangement
consideration at the inception of an arrangement to all deliverables, if they represent a separate unit of accounting,
based on their relative selling prices. The guidance establishes a hierarchy to determine the selling price to be used for
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allocating arrangement consideration to deliverables: (i) vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value (“VSOE”),
(ii) third-party evidence of selling price (“TPE”) if VSOE is not available, or (iii) an estimated selling price (“ESP”) if
neither VSOE nor TPE are available. VSOE generally exists only when the Company sells the deliverable separately
and is the price actually charged by the Company for that deliverable on a stand-alone basis. ESP reflects the
Company’s estimate of what the selling price of a deliverable would be if it was sold regularly on a stand-alone basis.
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The Company has concluded it generally does not have VSOE for its arrangements, and TPE is generally not available
because the Company’s service offerings are highly differentiated and the Company is unable to obtain reliable
information on the products and pricing practices of the Company’s competitors. As such, ESP is generally used to
allocate the total arrangement consideration at the arrangement inception based on each element’s relative selling price.
The Company’s process for determining ESP involves management’s judgments based on multiple factors that may
vary depending upon the unique facts and circumstances related to each product suite and deliverable. The Company
determines ESP by considering several external and internal factors including, but not limited to, current pricing
practices, pricing concentrations such as industry, channel, customer class or geography, internal costs and market
penetration of a product or service. The total arrangement consideration is allocated to each of the elements based on
the relative selling price. If the ESP is determined as a range of selling prices, the mid-point of the range is used in the
relative-selling-price method. Once the total arrangement consideration has been allocated to each deliverable based
on the relative allocation of the arrangement fee, the Company commences revenue recognition for each deliverable
on a stand-alone basis as the data or service is delivered. ESP will be analyzed on an annual basis or more frequently
if management deems it likely that changes in the estimated selling prices have occurred.
Generally, contracts are non-refundable and non-cancellable. In the event a portion of a contract is refundable,
revenue recognition is delayed until the refund provisions lapse. A limited number of customers have the right to
cancel their contracts by providing a written notice of cancellation. In the event that a customer cancels its contract,
the customer is not entitled to a refund for prior services, and will be charged for costs incurred plus services
performed up to the cancellation date.
Advance payments are recorded as deferred revenues until services are delivered or obligations are met and revenue
can be recognized. Deferred revenues represent the excess of amounts invoiced over amounts recognized as revenues.
Multiple contracts with a single counterparty that are negotiated simultaneously and are considered contemporaneous
are accounted for as one arrangement.  If there are multiple contracts with one counterparty that are deemed
independent of one another, they are accounted for as separate arrangements.
The Company accounts for nonmonetary transactions under ASC 845, Nonmonetary Transactions. Nonmonetary
transactions with commercial substance are recorded at the estimated fair value of assets surrendered including cash, if
cash is less than 25% of the fair value of the overall exchange, unless the fair value of the assets received is more
clearly evident, in which case the fair value of the asset received is used to estimate fair value for the exchange.
In 2013, the Company entered into an agreement to exchange certain data assets with a corporation.  In Q4 2014, the
Company and the corporation modified the existing agreement, where the parties will provide additional data assets. A
member of the Company’s Board of Directors also serves as a member of the Board of Directors of that corporation
and therefore, the Company has considered the corporation to be a related party. The transaction was considered to
have commercial substance under the guidance in ASC 845 and the Company estimated the fair value of the services
delivered based on similar monetary transactions with third parties.  No cash was exchanged in this transaction.  The
Company also considered the guidance in ASC 850, Related Party Disclosures.
During the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company recognized $3.8 million and $2.2 million,
respectively, of revenue related to nonmonetary transactions, of which $2.1 million and $1.7 million, respectively, was
attributable to the related party transaction. During the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company
recognized $4.2 million and $1.2 million, respectively, in expense related to nonmonetary transactions, of which $2.0
million and $0.8 million, respectively, was attributable to the related party transaction. Due to timing differences in
the delivery and receipt of the respective nonmonetary assets exchanged, expense recognized in each period is
different from the amount of revenue recognized.
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company estimates the fair value of stock-based awards on the date of grant. The fair value of stock options with
only service conditions is determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair value of market-based
stock options and restricted stock units is determined using a Monte Carlo simulation embedded in a lattice model.
The fair value of restricted stock awards is based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the date of
grant. The determination of the fair value of the Company’s stock option awards, restricted stock units, and restricted
stock awards is based on a variety of factors including, but not limited to, the Company’s common stock price,
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expected stock price volatility over the expected life of awards, and actual and projected exercise behavior.
Additionally, the Company has estimated forfeitures for stock-based awards at the dates of grant based on historical
experience and adjusted for future expectation. The forfeiture estimate is revised as necessary if actual forfeitures
differ from these estimates.
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The Company issues restricted stock awards where restrictions lapse upon the passage of time (service vesting),
achieving performance targets, or some combination of these restrictions. For those restricted stock awards with only
service conditions, the Company recognizes compensation cost on a straight-line basis over the explicit service period.
For awards with both performance and service conditions, the Company starts recognizing compensation cost over the
remaining service period, when it is probable the performance condition will be met. For stock awards that contain
market vesting conditions, the Company recognizes compensation cost of the original estimate of the derived service
period, based on its initial valuation analysis regardless of market performance. Stock awards that contain
performance or market vesting conditions are excluded from diluted earnings per share computations until the
contingency is met as of the end of that reporting period.
Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary
differences in recognizing certain income, expense and credit items for financial reporting purposes and tax reporting
purposes. Such deferred income taxes primarily relate to the difference between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their financial reporting amounts. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured by applying enacted statutory
tax rates applicable to the future years in which deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be settled or realized.
The Company records a valuation allowance when it determines, based on available positive and negative evidence,
that it is more-likely-than-not that some portion or all of its deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Company
determines the realizability of its deferred tax assets primarily based on the reversal of existing taxable temporary
differences and projections of future taxable income (exclusive of reversing temporary differences and carryforwards).
In evaluating such projections, the Company considers its history of profitability, the competitive environment, the
overall outlook for the online marketing industry and general economic conditions. In addition, the Company
considers the time frame over which it would take to utilize the deferred tax assets prior to their expiration.
For certain tax positions, the Company uses a more-likely-than-not threshold based on the technical merits of the tax
position taken. Tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold are measured at the largest
amount of tax benefits determined on a cumulative probability basis, which are more-likely-than-not to be realized
upon ultimate settlement in the financial statements. The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties
related to income tax matters in income tax expense. 
Earnings Per Share
Basic net income/loss per common share excludes dilution for potential common stock issuances and is computed by
dividing net income/loss by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted net
income/loss per common share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue
common stock were exercised or converted into common stock. Diluted earnings per share assumes the exercise of
stock options and warrants using the treasury stock method. The Company's restricted stock awards are participating
securities when the Company has net income. The weighted-average shares outstanding-common stock has been
adjusted to reflect share repurchases made during the three months ended March 31, 2015. See Footnote 8 for more
information pertaining to the Company's share repurchases.

The following table provides a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators used in computing basic and diluted
net loss per common share: 

Three Months Ended March 31,
2015 2014
(In thousands, except share and per
share data)

Net loss $(7,325 ) $(782 )
Net loss per share - common stock:
Basic $(0.22 ) $(0.02 )
Diluted $(0.22 ) $(0.02 )
Weighted-average shares outstanding-common stock, basic and dilutive 33,793,582 33,822,835
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The following is a summary of common stock equivalents for the securities outstanding during the respective periods
that have been excluded from the earnings per share calculations as their impact was anti-dilutive.

Three Months Ended March 31,
2015 2014

Stock options and restricted stock 925,118 843,687
Recent Pronouncements
In May 2014, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2014-09, Revenue (Topic 606): Revenue from
Contracts with Customers, which will replace existing revenue recognition standards and significantly expand the
disclosure requirements for revenue arrangements. The new standard will be effective for the Company beginning on
January 1, 2017 (i.e., beginning with the first quarter 2017 interim financial statements). The new standard may be
adopted retrospectively for all periods presented, or adopted using a modified retrospective approach. Under the
retrospective approach, the calendar year 2016 and 2015 financial statements would be adjusted to reflect the effects
of applying the new standard to those periods. Under the modified retrospective approach, the new standard would
only be applied for the period beginning January 1, 2017 to new contracts and those contracts that are not yet
complete at January 1, 2017, with a cumulative catch-up adjustment recorded to beginning retained earnings for
existing contracts that still require performance. In April 2015, the FASB proposed a one-year delay in the effective
date of the standard to January 1, 2018, with an option that would permit companies to adopt the standard as early as
the original effective date. Early adoption prior to the original effective date is not permitted. A final decision on the
effective date is expected in 2015. The Company is currently evaluating the methods of adoption allowed by the new
standard and the impact the standard is expected to have on the Company's financial statements and related
disclosures.

3. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
The change in the carrying value of goodwill for the three months ended March 31, 2015 is as follows (in thousands):
Balance as of December 31, 2014 $103,525
Translation adjustments (2,235 )
Balance as of March 31, 2015 $101,290

The carrying values of the Company’s amortizable acquired intangible assets are as follows (in thousands):

March 31, 2015 December 31, 2014
Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Acquired
methodologies/technology $6,392 $(5,245 ) $1,147 $6,612 $(5,180 ) $1,432

Customer relationships 17,543 (12,578 ) 4,965 19,201 (12,970 ) 6,231
Panel 1,593 (1,555 ) 38 1,617 (1,521 ) 96
Intellectual property 13,552 (5,905 ) 7,647 13,562 (5,528 ) 8,034
Trade names 1,529 (1,529 ) — 1,690 (1,690 ) —

$40,609 $(26,812 ) $13,797 $42,682 $(26,889 ) $15,793
Amortization expense related to intangible assets was approximately $1.4 million and $2.0 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
The weighted average remaining amortization period by major asset class as of March 31, 2015, is as follows:

(In years)
Acquired methodologies/technology 2.8
Customer relationships 2.3
Panel 0.2
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           The estimated future amortization of acquired intangible assets as of March 31, 2015 is as follows: 

(In thousands)
2015 3,420
2016 3,805
2017 2,920
2018 1,108
2019 518
Thereafter 2,026

$13,797

As of December 31, 2014, the Company determined that it had met the held for sale criteria as defined in Accounting
Standard Codification 360: Property, Plant, and Equipment. As such, the Company presents assets and liabilities held
for sale related to CSWS on its consolidated balance sheets. However, CSWS does not qualify for discontinued
operations financial presentation, as management expects to have continuing involvement with CSWS by providing
certain services to the buyer. The Company recorded a $9.7 million impairment charge during the year ended
December 31, 2014, which reduced the carrying amount of CSWS intangible assets to zero and was calculated as the
difference between the letters of intent that the Company has received and the carrying value of CSWS.
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4. Long-term Debt and Other Financing Arrangement
Capital Leases
The Company has a lease financing arrangement with Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC in the amount of
$12.5 million, of which the Company can utilize approximately $7.4 million as of March 31, 2015, for future capital
leases. This arrangement allows the Company to lease new software, hardware and other computer equipment as it
expands its technology infrastructure in support of its business growth. Under this arrangement, the Company may
enter into new capital leases prior to May 31, 2015. Some of the amounts the Company has utilized to date under this
arrangement have not lowered the amount available for future capital leases, because those amounts have been
assigned by Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC under separate third-party arrangements. In addition, the
Company enters into capital leases under non-committed arrangements, typically directly with equipment
manufacturers. Future minimum payments under capital leases with initial terms of one year or more are as follows:

(In thousands)
2015 $11,712
2016 11,620
2017 5,101
2018 239
2019 16
Total minimum lease payments 28,688
Less amount representing interest (1,426 )
Present value of net minimum lease payments 27,262
Less current portion (14,239 )
Capital lease obligations, long-term $13,023
During the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company acquired $4.6 million and $2.0 million,
respectively, in computer hardware and software through the issuance of capital leases.
Revolving Credit Facility
On September 26, 2013, the Company entered into a Credit Agreement (the "Credit Agreement") with several banks
(the "Lenders"). Bank of America, N.A. (“Bank of America”) is the administrative agent, and lead lender of this
Revolving Credit Facility. The Credit Agreement provides for a five-year revolving credit facility of $100.0 million,
which includes a $10.0 million sublimit for issuance of standby letters of credit, a $10.0 million sublimit for swing
line loans and a $10.0 million sublimit for alternative currency lending. The maturity date of the Credit Agreement is
September 26, 2018.  The Credit Agreement also contains an expansion option permitting the Company to request an
increase of the credit facility up to an aggregate additional $50.0 million, subject to certain conditions. Borrowings
under the Revolving Credit Facility shall be used towards working capital and other general corporate purposes as
well as for the issuance of letters of credit. On June 23, 2014, the Company executed the First Amendment to the
Credit Agreement. This amendment reset the equity repurchase limit to $50.0 million and permits the Company to
repurchase equity interests in the Company outside the $50.0 million limit during the remainder of the five-year
revolver term, provided that certain financial thresholds are met.
Base rate loans and swing line loans will bear interest at the Base Rate plus the Applicable Rate, as such terms are
defined in the Credit Agreement and summarized below. The Base Rate is the highest rate of the following: (a) the
Federal Funds rate plus 0.50%, (b) the publicly announced Bank of America prime rate, and (c) the Eurocurrency rate,
as defined in the Credit Agreement plus 1.0%. The Applicable Rate for base rate loans and swing line loans is 0.50%
to 1.50% depending on the Company’s funded debt-to-EBITDA ratio at the end of each fiscal quarter. Amounts
supporting letters of credit bear interest at the applicable rate for revolving loans. Each Eurocurrency rate loan will
bear interest at the Eurocurrency Rate plus the Applicable Rate ranging from 1.50% to 2.50% depending on the
Company's funded debt-to-EBITDA ratio at the end of each fiscal quarter. Beginning on September 26, 2013 through
the maturity date of the five-year revolver term, the Company is obligated to pay a fee, payable quarterly in arrears,
based on the average unused portion of the available amounts under the Credit Agreement at a rate of 0.20% to 0.35%
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The Credit Agreement contains various usual and customary covenants, including, but not limited to: financial
covenants requiring maximum funded debt-to-EBITDA ratio, cash flow-to-fixed charge ratios and a minimum
liquidity during equity repurchase periods as well as covenants relating to the Company’s ability to dispose of assets,
make certain acquisitions, be acquired, incur indebtedness, grant liens and make certain investments. As of March 31,
2015 the Company was in full compliance with all covenants contained in the Credit Agreement.
As of March 31, 2015, the Company did not have an outstanding balance under the terms of the Credit Agreement.
The Company maintains letters of credit in lieu of security deposits with respect to certain office leases as well as to
satisfy performance guarantees under certain contracts. As of March 31, 2015, $3.6 million in letters of credit were
outstanding, leaving $6.4 million available for additional letters of credit. These letters of credit may be reduced
periodically provided the Company meets the conditional criteria of each related lease agreement.

5. Contingencies
Contingencies
From time to time, the Company is exposed to unasserted potential claims encountered in the normal course of
business. Although the outcome of any legal proceeding cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes that
the final outcome and resolution of current matters, if any will not materially affect the Company’s consolidated
financial position or results of operations.

6. Income Taxes
The Company’s income tax provision for interim periods is calculated by applying its estimated annual effective tax
rate on ordinary income before taxes to year-to-date ordinary book income before taxes. The income tax effects of any
extraordinary, significant unusual or infrequent items not included in ordinary book income are determined separately
and recognized in the period in which the items arise.
During the three months ended March 31, 2015, the Company recorded an income tax benefit of $2.3 million,
resulting in an effective tax rate of 24.1%. During the three months ended March 31, 2014, the Company recorded an
income tax provision of $0.1 million, resulting in an effective tax rate of (18.5)%. These effective tax rates differ from
the Federal statutory rate of 35% primarily due to the effects of valuation allowances associated with foreign losses,
state income taxes, foreign income taxes, nondeductible expenses such as certain stock compensation and meals and
entertainment, unrecognized tax benefits and changes in statutory tax rates which took effect during the year.
As of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the Company had unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $1.4
million, of which approximately $0.9 million is netted against certain deferred tax assets on the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax
benefits in income tax expense. As of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the amount of accrued interest and
penalties on unrecognized tax benefits was approximately $0.6 million.
The Company or one of its subsidiaries files income tax returns in the U.S. Federal jurisdiction and various state and
foreign jurisdictions. For income tax returns filed by the Company, the Company is no longer subject to U.S. Federal
examinations by tax authorities for years before 2011 or state and local examinations by tax authorities for years
before 2010 although tax attribute carryforwards generated prior to these years may still be adjusted upon examination
by tax authorities.
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7. Stockholders’ Equity
1999 Stock Option Plan and 2007 Equity Incentive Plan
Prior to the effective date of the registration statement for the Company’s initial public offering (“IPO”) on June 26,
2007, eligible employees and non-employees were awarded options to purchase shares of the Company’s common
stock, restricted stock or restricted stock units pursuant to the Company’s 1999 Stock Plan (the “1999 Plan”). Upon the
effective date of the registration statement of the Company’s IPO, the Company ceased using the 1999 Plan for the
issuance of new equity awards. Upon the closing of the Company’s IPO on July 2, 2007, the Company established its
2007 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (the “2007 Plan” and together with the 1999 Plan, the “Plans”). The 1999 Plan
will continue to govern the terms and conditions of outstanding awards granted thereunder, but no further shares are
authorized for new awards under the 1999 Plan. As of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the Plans provided for
the issuance of a maximum of approximately 12.7 million shares and 11.4 million shares, respectively, of common
stock. In addition, the 2007 Plan provides for annual increases in the number of shares available for issuance
thereunder on the first day of each fiscal year beginning with the 2008 fiscal year, equal to the lesser of: (i) 4% of the
outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock on the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal year;
(ii) 1,800,000 shares; or (iii) such other amount as the Company’s Board of Directors may determine. The vesting
period of options granted under the Plans is determined by the Board of Directors, although, for service-based options
the vesting has historically been generally ratable over a four-year period. Options generally expire 10 years from the
date of the grant. Effective January 1, 2015, the shares available for grant increased by 1,366,979 pursuant to the
automatic share reserve increase provision under the 2007 Plan. Accordingly, as of March 31, 2015, a total of
2,580,322 shares were available for future grant under the 2007 Plan.
The Company estimates the fair value of stock option awards using the Black-Scholes option-pricing formula and a
single option award approach. The fair value of market-based stock options and restricted stock units is determined
using a Monte Carlo simulation embedded in a lattice model. The fair value of restricted stock awards is based on the
closing price of our common stock on the date of grant. The Company then amortizes the fair value of awards
expected to vest on a ratable straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of the awards, which is generally the
period from the grant date to the end of the vesting period.
During the twelve months ended December 31, 2014, the Company granted market-based options and restricted units
to its named executive officers and other key management personnel of 1,969,453 and 283,356, respectively.
These market-based grants were designed to motivate management to drive enterprise value toward a significantly
higher market capitalization over the next three years. In addition, the 30-day price average and bifurcated vesting
provisions described below were intended to promote sustainability of the achievement.
The awards were granted effective as of November 7, 2014, with an exercise price and fair value at the time of grant
of $42.92 per share, the closing price of the Company’s common stock as reported by the NASDAQ Global Market on
November 7, 2014. Each of the awards is subject to market-based vesting, as follows:

•

66% of the shares subject to each option award, and 48% of the restricted stock units will vest in the event that the
closing price of the Company’s common stock as reported by the NASDAQ Global Market exceeds an average of $48
per share for a consecutive thirty calendar day period prior to November 7, 2017. Such target represents a 25%
increase over the 30-day average closing price of the Company’s common stock as reported by the NASDAQ Global
Market ending on the date of award.

•
10% of the shares subject to each option award, and 10% of the restricted stock units will vest in the event that the
closing price of the Company’s common stock as reported by the NASDAQ Global Market exceeds an average of $50
per share for a consecutive thirty-day period prior to November 7, 2017.

•
14% of the shares subject to each option award, and 22% of the restricted stock units will vest in the event that the
closing price of the Company’s common stock as reported by the NASDAQ Global Market exceeds an average of $55
per share for a consecutive thirty-day period prior to November 7, 2017.

•
10% of the shares subject to each option award, and 20% of the restricted stock units will vest in the event that the
closing price of the Company’s common stock as reported by the NASDAQ Global Market exceeds an average of $60
per share for a consecutive thirty-day period prior to November 7, 2017.
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The following are the weighted-average assumptions used in valuing the stock options granted during the year ended
December 31, 2014 and a discussion of the Company’s assumptions.

Year Ended
December 31,
2014

Dividend yield 0.00 %
Expected volatility 34.11 %
Risk-free interest rate 0.96 %
Expected life of options (in years) 3.00
Dividend yield — The Company has never declared or paid dividends on its common stock and has no plans to pay
dividends in the foreseeable future.
Expected volatility — Volatility is a measure of the amount by which a financial variable such as a share price has
fluctuated (historical volatility) or is expected to fluctuate (expected volatility) during a period. The expected volatility
is calculated based on the weekly closing price volatility of the Company’s common stock for the period from its initial
public offering until the grant date.
Risk-free interest rate — The Company used rates on the grant date of zero-coupon government bonds with maturities
over periods covering the term of the awards, converted to continuously compounded forward rates.
Expected life of the options — This is the period of time that the options granted are expected to remain outstanding.
A summary of the Plans is presented below:

Number of
Shares

Weighted-
Average
Exercise
Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term
(in years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value (in
thousands)

Options outstanding at December 31, 2014 1,980,308 $42.71 9.81 7,359
Options granted — — — —
Options exercised (59,214 ) 39.91 — 664
Options forfeited — — — —
Options expired — — — —
Options outstanding at March 31, 2015 1,921,094 $42.80 9.59 16,136
Options exercisable at March 31, 2015 1,443,087 $42.76 9.58 12,178
The intrinsic value of exercised stock options is calculated based on the difference between the exercise price and the
quoted market price of our common stock as of the close of the exercise date. The aggregate intrinsic value of options
exercised for the three months ended March 31, 2015 was $0.7 million. The aggregate intrinsic value for all options
outstanding were $16.1 million and $7.4 million, respectively, under the Company’s stock plans as of March 31, 2015
and December 31, 2014. The aggregate intrinsic value for all options exercisable was $12.2 million as of March 31,
2015. The weighted average remaining contractual lives for all options outstanding were 9.59 and 9.81 years,
respectively, under the Company’s stock plans as of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014. The weighted average
remaining contractual live for all options exercisable was 9.58 years as of March 31, 2015. As of March 31, 2015,
total unrecognized compensation expense related to outstanding options and exercisable options was $2.4 million,
which will be fully recognized during 2015.
The Company’s nonvested stock awards are comprised of restricted stock and restricted stock units. The Company has
a right of repurchase on such shares that lapse at a rate of twenty-five percent (25)% of the total shares awarded at
each successive anniversary of the initial award date, provided that the employee continues to provide services to the
Company. In the event that an employee terminates his or her employment with the Company, any shares that remain
unvested and consequently subject to the right of repurchase shall be automatically reacquired by the Company at the
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A summary of the status for nonvested stock awards as of March 31, 2015 is presented as follows:

Nonvested Stock Awards Restricted
Stock

Restricted
Stock
Units

Total Number
of Shares
Underlying
Awards

Weighted
Average
Grant-Date
Fair
Value

Nonvested at December 31, 2014 476,993 1,410,581 1,887,574 $26.88
Granted 175,287 209,685 384,972 46.84
Vested (496,763 ) (545,669 ) (1,042,432 ) 33.02
Forfeited (1,650 ) (33,551 ) (35,201 ) 47.24
Nonvested at March 31, 2015 153,867 1,041,046 1,194,913 $27.36
The aggregate intrinsic value for all non-vested shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units outstanding as of
March 31, 2015 was $59.6 million. The aggregate intrinsic value of restricted stock and restricted stock units vested
during the three months ended March 31, 2015 was $45.4 million.
The Company granted nonvested stock awards at no cost to recipients during the three months ended March 31, 2015.
As of March 31, 2015, total unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested restricted stock and restricted
stock units was $28.2 million, which the Company expects to recognize over a weighted-average period of
approximately 0.9 years. Total unrecognized compensation expense may be increased or decreased in future periods
for subsequent grants or forfeitures.
Of the 1,042,432 shares of the Company’s restricted stock and restricted stock units vesting during the three months
ended March 31, 2015, the Company repurchased 430,778 shares at an aggregate purchase price of approximately
$21.7 million pursuant to the stockholder’s right under the Plans to elect to use common stock to satisfy tax
withholding obligations. The repurchased shares were subsequently retired.
Shares Reserved for Issuance
At March 31, 2015, the Company had reserved for future issuance the following shares of common stock:

Common stock available for future issuances under the Plans 2,580,322
Common stock reserved for outstanding options and restricted stock units 2,962,140

5,542,462
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8. Share Repurchases

As part of the Company's share repurchase program, shares may be purchased in open market transactions or pursuant
to any trading plan that may be adopted in accordance with Rule 10b5-1 of the Exchange Act. The timing, manner,
price and amount of any repurchases will be determined at our discretion, and the share repurchase program may be
suspended, terminated or modified at any time for any reason. Shares repurchased are classified as Treasury Stock.
Details of the share repurchases during the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 under the Company's share
repurchase program were as follows:

Three Months Ended March 31,
2015 (1) 2014 (2)

(Amounts in millions, except share and per share data)

Total number of shares repurchased 80,661 755,373
Average price paid per share 46.56 $28.46
Total value of shares repurchased (as measured at time of repurchase) $3.8 $21.5
(1) June 2014 Share Repurchase Program
On June 5, 2014 the Company announced that its board of directors had approved the repurchase of up to an
additional $50.0 million of our common stock. Such repurchases may be made from time to time subject to
pre-determined price and volume guidelines established by our board of directors and commenced on June 6, 2014. As
of March 31, 2015, there was $45.4 million remaining under the share repurchase program.
(2) June 2013 Share Repurchase Program
On June 3, 2013 the Company announced that its board of directors had approved the repurchase of up to $50 million
of the Company's common stock. Such repurchases may be made from time to time subject to pre-determined price
and volume guidelines established by the Company's board of directors and commenced on June 4, 2013. As of
March 31, 2014, there was $28.5 million remaining under the share repurchase program. This repurchase program
concluded on May 29, 2014 and resulted in the repurchase of $49.4 million of shares (as measured at the time of
repurchase).

9. Geographic Information
The Company attributes revenues to customers based on the location of the customer. The composition of the
Company’s sales to unaffiliated customers between those in the United States and those in other locations for the three
months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 is set forth below:

Three Months Ended March 31,
2015 2014
(In thousands)

United States $64,086 $54,154
Europe 14,176 13,533
Canada 3,209 3,225
Other 5,858 5,987
Total Revenues $87,329 $76,899
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The composition of the Company’s property and equipment between those in the United States and those in other
countries as of the end of each period is set forth below:

March 31, 2015 December 31,
2014

(In thousands)
United States $41,649 $38,240
Europe 2,904 3,375
Canada 166 195
Other 651 555
Total $45,370 $42,365
10. Subsequent Event(s)

Material Definitive Agreement

On April 1, 2015, the Company closed a Stock Purchase Agreement with WPP plc, and its affiliates ("WPP") pursuant
to which WPP agreed to sell all of its outstanding equity in its subsidiary Conniaco B.V. to the Company and in
exchange for 4.45% of the Company's outstanding shares of common stock. The Company and the Purchaser also
closed an additional Stock Purchase Agreement on April 1, 2015 pursuant to which the Company issued and sold and
the Purchaser purchased 4,438,353 shares of the Company's common stock for an aggregate purchase price of
approximately $204.7 million. As part of the transaction, the Company entered into a Strategic Alliance Agreement
with WPP Group USA, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Parent Stockholder"), on behalf of itself and its affiliates,
including The Kantar Group ("Kantar Group"), pursuant to which WPP Group USA, Inc. and the Company will
collaborate on cross-media audience measurement business outside the United States. The required disclosures for this
transaction will be made when the Company has completed its analysis.
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ITEM 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes to those statements included elsewhere in
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q . In addition to historical financial information, the following discussion and
analysis contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results and
timing of selected events may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result
of many factors, including those discussed under “Risk factors” and elsewhere in this document. See also “Cautionary
Note Concerning Forward-Looking Statements” at the beginning of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Overview
We provide trusted, independent data, metrics, products and services to clients in the media, advertising, and
marketing industries. We deliver digital media analytics that help content owners and advertisers understand--and thus
properly value--the composition of consumer media audiences, and we help marketers understand the performance
and effectiveness of advertising targeted at these audiences.
We are a technology-driven company that measures what people do as they navigate the digital world across multiple
technology platforms and devices including smartphones, tablets, televisions, and desktop computers. Our technology
measures consumer interactions with digital media, including websites, apps, video programming and advertising.

We combine proprietary comScore data with our clients’ own data and data from partners, to provide uniquely
valuable digital media analytics. We deliver on-demand and real-time products and services through a scalable
Software-as-Service delivery model which supports both comScore branded products and also partner products
integrating comScore data and services. During the three months ended March 31, 2015, we provided service to
approximately 2,589 customers worldwide with our broad geographic base of employees located in 32 locations in 24
countries.

Our company was founded in August 1999, and we have been publicly traded since our initial public offering in
2007.  As we have grown as a public company, we have continued to evolve. For example, from 2008 to 2011, we
completed targeted acquisitions of several businesses with complementary research and analytics capabilities and
businesses with an established presence in Europe and Latin America to expand our global footprint. Our revenues
and expenses grew through this period, driven primarily by growth in our product offerings, increased sales to existing
customers, and the resulting expansion of our customer base outside the United States following our acquisitions and
increased international sales efforts. Since 2010, we have increasingly focused our technology, research, and data
science assets and expertise on developing new products and services that report on advertising performance and
effectiveness, most notably our flagship Validated Campaign Essentials product. We have also made large
investments in multi-platform and cross-media solutions measuring digital content consumption across smartphone,
tablet and desktop platforms, and also linking digital video consumption with metrics measuring traditional linear
television viewing. In recent years, our strategy has also involved a series of strategic partnerships along two
dimensions: Product development and product distribution. Product development has been enhanced through
partnerships which provide us with large volumes of consumer demographics and segmentation data which improves
the accuracy and granularity of our products and services. Product distribution has been significantly widened through
partnerships which integrate our products and services into the third party platforms used by clients. We believe these
investments in advertising measurement and multi-platform/cross-media measurement are poised to converge and
offer significant revenue potential in the years ahead as we pursue our mission of making audiences and advertising
more valuable.
Key Metrics

Three Months Ended March 31,
2015 2014
(dollars in thousands)

Revenue(1) $87,084 $75,971
Adjusted EBITDA*(1) $21,295 $17,030
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Adjusted EBITDA Margin* 24 % 22 %

*

Adjusted EBITDA is not calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. A
reconciliation of this non-GAAP measure to the most directly comparable GAAP-based measure along with a
summary of the definition and its material limitation are included in the section titled “-Non-GAAP Financial
Measures.”

(1) comScore classified its mobile operator analytics division CSWS as held for sale in the fourth quarter of 2014.
Amounts for three months ended March 31, 2015, and 2014 include adjustments to exclude the mobile operator
analytics division and are based on management’s estimates of the revenue and results of operations of the division.
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We monitor the key financial and operating metrics set forth in the preceding table to help us evaluate trends and
measure the effectiveness and efficiency of our operations. We discuss our revenue in the section titled “Our Revenues”
and “Results of Operations” and Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin in the section titled “Non-GAAP
Financial Measures.”

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

To provide investors with additional information regarding our financial results, we have disclosed adjusted EBITDA
and adjusted EBITDA margin, which are both non-GAAP financial measures.

We present these non-GAAP financial measures because they are key measures used by our management and board of
directors to understand and evaluate our core operating performance and trends. We believe that these non-GAAP
financial measures provide useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our operating
results in the same manner as our management and board of directors.

We define adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) plus; amortization of intangible assets, impairment of intangible
assets, stock-based compensation, costs related to acquisitions, restructuring and other infrequently occurring items,
settlement of litigation, gain on ARS disposition, pro-forma adjustment to exclude the non-Health Copy-Testing and
Configuration Manager products, pro-forma adjustment to exclude the mobile operator analytics division, deferred
and current cash tax provision, depreciation, and interest expense (income), net. Adjusted EBITDA margin is the
quotient of Adjusted EBITDA divided by total pro-forma revenue.

Our use of these non-GAAP financial measures has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider them
in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. These limitations are:

•
although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated may have to be replaced in
the future, and adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash capital expenditure requirements for such replacements or for
new capital expenditure requirements;
•adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;
•adjusted EBITDA does not consider the impact of equity-based compensation;
•adjusted EBITDA does not reflect tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash available to us; and

•other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate adjusted EBITDA differently, which reduces its
usefulness as a comparative measure.

Because of these and other limitations, you should consider adjusted EBITDA alongside other GAAP-based financial
performance measures, including various cash flow metrics, net income (loss) and our other GAAP financial results.
Management addresses the inherent limitations associated with using adjusted EBITDA through disclosure of such
limitations, presentation of our financial statements in accordance with GAAP and reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA
to the most directly comparable GAAP measure, net income (loss). Further, management also reviews GAAP
measures, and evaluates individual measures that are not included in adjusted EBITDA such as our level of capital
expenditures and interest expense, among other items.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to net loss, the most comparable GAAP measure,
for each of the periods identified:

Three months ended March 31,
2015 2014
(dollars in thousands)

Net loss $(7,325 ) $(782 )
Amortization of intangible assets 1,379 1,955
Impairment of intangible assets — —
Stock-based compensation 21,755 7,223
Costs related to acquisitions, restructuring and other infrequently occurring
items 1,405 2,611

Settlement of litigation (90 ) (80 )
Adjustment to exclude Mobile Operator Analytics Division 1,098 1,595
Deferred tax (benefit) provision 515 (255 )
Current tax provision (benefit) (2,844 ) 377
Depreciation 5,010 4,183
Interest and other expense, net 392 203
Adjusted EBITDA (1) $21,295 $17,030
Adjusted EBITDA margin(1) 24 % 22 %

(1)

Management estimates pro forma revenues of $245 and $928, respectively, and pro forma expenses of $1,322 and
$3,169, respectively, for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 related to the Mobile Operator
Analytics Division, which we have classified as held for sale as of December 31, 2014. Calculating based on
revenues excluding those amounts, adjusted EBITDA margin would have been 24% and 22% during the three
months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Our Revenues
We derive our revenues primarily from the fees that we charge for subscription-based products, customized projects,
and software licenses. We define subscription-based revenues as revenues that we generate from products that we
deliver to a customer on a recurring basis, as well as arrangements where a customer is committing up-front to
purchase a series of deliverables over time, which includes revenue from software licenses as further discussed below.
We define project revenues as revenues that we generate from customized projects that are performed for a specific
customer on an infrequently occurring basis. A significant characteristic of our SaaS-based business model is our large
percentage of subscription-based contracts. Subscription-based revenues accounted for 92% and 90% of total revenues
in the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Many of our customers who initially purchased a
customized project have subsequently purchased one of our subscription-based products. Similarly, many of our
subscription-based customers have subsequently purchased additional customized projects.
Historically, we have generated most of our revenues from the sale and delivery of our products to companies and
organizations located within the United States. We continue to expand our international revenues by selling our
products and deploying our direct sales force model in additional international markets. For the three months ended
March 31, 2015, our international revenues were $23.2 million, or 27% of our total revenues. International revenues
comprised approximately 29% of our total revenues for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. The decline in the percentage of international revenue to total revenue for the three months ended March
31, 2015 was primarily attributable to the appreciation of the U.S. Dollar as compared to foreign currencies in our key
international markets.
We anticipate that revenues from our U.S. customers will continue to grow and constitute a substantial portion of our
revenues in future periods, but we expect that revenues from customers outside of the U.S. will grow faster and
therefore increase as a percentage of total revenues as we build greater international recognition of our brand and
expand our sales operations globally.
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Subscription Revenues
We generate a significant portion of our subscription-based revenues from our Media Metrix ®  product suite.
Products within the Media Metrix ®  suite include: Video Metrix ™, Mobile Metrix ™, Plan Metrix ™, Ad Metrix ™and Media
Metrix ® Multi-Platform (MMX MP). These product offerings provide subscribers with intelligence on digital media
usage, audience characteristics, audience demographics and online and offline purchasing behavior. Customers who
subscribe to our Media Metrix products are provided with login IDs to our website, have access to our database and
can generate reports at any time.
In recent years, we began generating additional subscription revenues from our flagship advertising service, Validated
Campaign Essentials (vCE). In January 2014, we entered into a partnership agreement with Google to integrate vCE
directly into the DoubleClick ad management platform, allowing DoubleClick customers to add vCE to their ad
campaigns with a single click. While vCE provides key analytics about advertising campaigns to ad buyers, we also
offer Validated Media Essentials (vME) to advertising sellers, allowing them to evaluate their advertising inventory
and optimize their monetization strategy with metrics comparable to those used by ad buyers. Our strategic
partnerships with Google and Yahoo are continuing to generate revenues during the first quarter of 2015.
We also generate subscription-based revenues from certain reports and analyses provided through our customer
research product, if that work is procured by customers on a recurring basis. Through our customer research products,
we deliver digital media analytics relating to specific industries, such as automotive, consumer packaged goods,
entertainment, financial services, media, pharmaceutical, retail, technology, telecommunications and travel. This
marketing intelligence leverages our global consumer panel and extensive database to deliver information unique to a
particular customer’s needs on a recurring schedule, as well as on a continual-access basis. Our Marketing Solutions
customer agreements typically include a fixed fee with an initial term of at least one year. We also provide these
products on a non-subscription basis as described under “Project Revenues.”
In addition, we generate subscription-based revenues from survey products that we sell to our customers. In
conducting our surveys, we generally use our global Internet user panel. After questionnaires are distributed to the
panel members and completed, we compile their responses and then deliver our findings to the customer, who also has
ongoing access to the survey response data as they are compiled and updated over time. This data include responses
and information collected from the actual survey questionnaires and can also include behavioral information that we
passively collect from our panelists. If a customer has a history of purchasing survey products in each of the last four
quarters, then we believe this indicates the surveys are being conducted on a recurring basis, and we classify the
revenues generated from such survey products as subscription-based revenues. Our contracts for survey services
typically include a fixed fee with terms that range from two months to one year.
Project Revenues
We generate project revenues by providing customized information reports to our customers on a nonrecurring basis
through comScore Marketing Solutions. For example, a customer in the media industry might request a custom report
that profiles the behavior of the customer’s active online users and contrasts their market share and loyalty with similar
metrics for a competitor’s online user base. If this customer continues to request the report beyond an initial project
term of at least nine months and enters into an agreement to purchase the report on a recurring basis, we begin to
classify these future revenues as subscription-based.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The
preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the
amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes. We base our estimates on
historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Management considers an accounting policy to be critical if it is important to our financial condition and results of
operations, and if it requires significant judgment and estimates on the part of management in its application. The
development and selection of these critical accounting policies have been determined by our management. Due to the
significant judgment involved in selecting certain of the assumptions used in these areas, it is possible that different
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Our significant accounting policies are described in more detail in the notes to our consolidated financial statements
included in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in Item 8 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2014. For a discussion of our critical accounting policies and estimates, see “Critical
Accounting Policies and
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Estimates” included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 under the caption
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
Seasonality
Historically, a higher percentage of our customers have renewed their subscription products with us during the fourth
quarter than in other quarters.
Results of Operations
The following table sets forth selected consolidated statements of operations data as a percentage of total revenues for
each of the periods indicated.

Three Months Ended March 31,
2015 2014

Revenues 100.0  % 100.0  %
Cost of revenues 28.5 30.5
Selling and marketing 31.3 33.9
Research and development 20.6 16.2
General and administrative 28.6 17.4
Amortization of intangible assets 1.6 2.5
Settlement of litigation (0.1 ) (0.1 )
Total expenses from operations 110.6 100.4
Loss from operations (10.6 ) (0.4 )
Interest and other expense, net (0.4 ) (0.3 )
Loss from foreign currency (0.1 ) (0.2 )
Loss before income tax (provision) benefit (11.1 ) (0.9 )
Income tax benefit (provision) 2.7 (0.2 )
Net loss attributable to common stockholders (8.4 )% (1.1 )%
Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 Compared to the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014
Revenues

Three Months Ended
March 31, Change

2015 2014 $ %
(In thousands)

Revenues $87,329 $76,899 $10,430 13.6 %
Total revenues increased by approximately $10.4 million, or approximately 14%, during the three months ended
March 31, 2015 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2014. We attribute the revenue growth primarily to
increased sales to our existing customer base. Revenue from existing customers increased $9.3 million from $69.8
million for the three months ended March 31, 2014 to $79.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2015, while
revenue from new customers increased $1.1 million from $7.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014 to
$8.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2015.
We experienced continued growth in subscription revenues, which increased by approximately $11.1 million during
the three months ended March 31, 2015, from $69.1 million in the prior year period. The increase in subscription
revenues is attributable to custom solutions sold on a subscription basis and mobile syndicated products. We
experienced a decline in our project revenues as there were fewer product deliveries and revenues from customer
renewals were included in subscription revenues. During the three months ended March 31, 2015, project revenues
decreased by approximately $0.7 million, from $7.8 million in the prior period.
Revenues from U.S customers were $64.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2015, or approximately 73%
of total revenues, while revenues from customers outside of the U.S. was $23.2 million for the three months ended
March 31,

Edgar Filing: COMSCORE, INC. - Form 10-Q

40



25

Edgar Filing: COMSCORE, INC. - Form 10-Q

41



Table of Contents

2015, or approximately 27% of total revenues. International revenues grew modestly during the three months ended
March 31, 2015 as compared to the prior year period primarily due to the appreciation of the U.S. Dollar as compared
to foreign currencies in our key international markets.
Operating Expenses
The majority of our operating expenses consist of employee salaries, benefits and related, stock-based compensation
expense, professional fees, rent and other facility related costs, depreciation expense, amortization and
litigation-related expenses. Our single largest operating expense relates to our people. In order to effectively motivate
our employees and to provide them with proper long-term incentives, we pay the vast majority of our annual bonuses
with equity-based instruments.
Our total operating expenses increased by approximately $19.3 million, or approximately 25%, during the three
months ended March 31, 2015 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2014. This increase is primarily
attributable to increases in stock compensation expense of $14.5 million associated with market-based grants issued in
November 2014, increased employee salaries, benefits and related costs of $3.1 million associated with our increased
headcount and increased expenditures for third-party data costs to support the enhancement of existing products of
$3.0 million. These costs were offset by decreased data and bandwidth costs of $0.9 million related to our data
collection efforts and decreased amortization expense of $0.6 million.
Cost of Revenues

Three Months Ended
March 31, Change

2015 2014 $ %
(In thousands)

Cost of revenues 24,892 $23,441 $1,451 6.2 %
As a percentage of revenues 28.5 % 30.5 %
Cost of revenues consists primarily of expenses related to operating our network infrastructure, producing our
products, and the recruitment, maintenance and support of our consumer panels. Expenses associated with these areas
include the salaries, benefits, stock-based compensation, and related personnel expenses of network operations, survey
operations, custom analytics and technical support, all of which are expensed as they are incurred. Cost of revenues
also includes data collection costs for our products, operational costs associated with our data centers, including
depreciation expense associated with computer equipment that supports our panel and systems, and allocated
overhead, which is comprised of rent and other facilities related costs, and depreciation expense generated by general
purpose equipment and software.
Cost of revenues increased by approximately $1.5 million during the three months ended March 31, 2015 compared to
the three months ended March 31, 2014. This increase is primarily attributable to increased stock compensation
expense of $1.5 million and increased expenditures for employee salaries, benefits and related costs of $1.0 million
associated with our increased headcount. These costs were offset by decreases in data and bandwidth costs of $0.9
million related to our data collection efforts.
Cost of revenues decreased as a percentage of revenues during the three months ended March 31, 2015 as compared to
the same period in 2014, due to increased operating leverage as our revenues continue to grow.
Selling and Marketing Expenses

Three Months Ended
March 31, Change

2015 2014 $ %
(In thousands)

Selling and marketing $27,331 $26,066 $1,265 4.9 %
As a percentage of revenues 31.3 % 33.9 %
Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries, benefits, commissions, bonuses, and stock-based
compensation paid to our direct sales force and industry analysts, as well as costs related to online and offline
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and software. All selling and marketing costs are expensed as they are incurred. Commission plans are developed for
our account managers with criteria and size of sales quotas that vary depending upon the individual’s role.
Commissions are expensed as selling and marketing costs when a sales contract is executed by both the customer and
us.
Selling and marketing expenses increased by $1.3 million during the three months ended March 31, 2015 compared to
the three months ended March 31, 2014. This increase is primarily attributable to increased stock compensation
expense of $1.4 million and increased employee salaries, benefits and related costs of $0.3 million associated with our
increased sales force. These costs were partially offset by decreased travel expenditures of $0.4 million.
Selling and marketing expenses decreased as a percentage of revenues during the three months ended March 31, 2015
as compared to the same period in 2014, due to increased operating leverage as our revenues continue to grow.
Research and Development Expenses

Three Months Ended
March 31, Change

2015 2014 $ %
(In thousands)

Research and development $18,006 $12,477 $5,529 44.3 %
As a percentage of revenues 20.6 % 16.2 %
Research and development expenses include new product development costs, consisting primarily of salaries, benefits,
stock-based compensation and related costs for personnel associated with research and development activities, fees
paid to third parties to develop new products and allocated overhead, which is comprised of rent and other facilities
related costs, and depreciation expense related to general purpose equipment and software.
Research and development expenses increased $5.5 million during the three months ended March 31, 2015 compared
to the three months ended March 31, 2014. This increase is primarily attributable to increased expenditures for
third-party data costs to support the enhancement of existing products of $3.0 million, increased stock compensation
expense of $1.5 million, increased employee salaries, benefits and related costs of $1.3 million associated with a
reallocation of resources to focus on the development of new products.
Research and development expenses increased as a percentage of revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2015
compared to the same period in 2014, due primarily to an increase in third-party data costs and increased stock
compensation.
General and Administrative Expenses

Three Months Ended
March 31, Change

2015 2014 $ %
(In thousands)

General and administrative $25,001 $13,344 $11,657 87.4 %
As a percentage of revenues 28.6 % 17.4 %
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, benefits, stock-based compensation, and related
expenses for executive management, finance, accounting, human capital, legal and other administrative functions, as
well as professional fees, overhead, including allocated overhead, which is comprised of rent and other facilities
related costs, and depreciation expense generated by general purpose equipment and software, and expenses incurred
for other general corporate purposes.
General and administrative expenses increased by $11.7 million during the three months ended March 31, 2015 as
compared to the three months ended March 31, 2014. This increase is primarily attributable to increased stock
compensation expense of $10.2 million associated with market-based grants issued in November 2014, increased bad
debt expense of $0.5 million, increased employee salaries, benefits and related costs of $0.5 million and increases in
general overhead costs of $0.3 million.
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Amortization Expense

Three Months Ended
March 31, Change

2015 2014 $ %
(In thousands)

Amortization expense $1,379 1,955 $(576 ) (29.5 )%
As a percentage of revenues 1.6 % 2.5 %
Amortization expense consists of charges related to the amortization of intangible assets associated with acquisitions.
Amortization expense decreased $0.6 million during the three months ended March 31, 2015 as compared to the three
months ended March 31, 2014, due to the impairment of certain intangibles in the second half of 2014.
Settlement of litigation, Net
Settlement of litigation, net consists of losses from the settlement related to our outstanding privacy class-action
litigation offset by gains from our patent litigation settlements. The loss is net of insurance proceeds.
Settlement of litigation, net for the three months ended March 31, 2015 resulted in a net gain of $0.1 million, which
was unchanged from the same period in 2014.
Interest and Other Expense, Net
Interest and other income/expense, net, consists of interest income, interest expense and gains or losses on disposals of
fixed assets.
Interest income consists of interest earned from our cash and cash equivalent balances. Interest expense is incurred
due to capital leases pursuant to several equipment loan and security agreements to finance the lease of various
hardware, software, and other equipment purchases and our revolving credit facility. Our capital lease obligations are
secured by a senior security interest in eligible equipment.
Interest and other expense, net for the three months ended March 31, 2015 was $0.4 million, respectively, compared to
$0.2 million of net interest expense for the three months ended March 31, 2014.
Loss From Foreign Currency
The functional currency of our foreign subsidiaries is the local currency. All assets and liabilities are translated at the
current exchange rates as of the end of the period, and revenues and expenses are translated at average rates in effect
during the period. The gain or loss resulting from the process of translating the foreign currency financial statements
into U.S. dollars is included as a component of other comprehensive (loss) income.
We recorded a transaction loss of $0.1 million during the three months ended March 31, 2015, as compared to a
transaction loss of $0.2 million during the three months ended March 31, 2014, due to our continued international
presence in Europe and Latin America. Our foreign currency transactions are recorded primarily as a result of
fluctuations in the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the British Pound, euro, and the functional currencies of
our Latin America entities.
Provision for Income Taxes
During the three months ended March 31, 2015 we recorded an income tax benefit of $2.3 million, resulting in an
effective tax rate of 24.1%. The tax benefit for the three months ended March 31, 2015 was attributable to a current
tax benefit of $2.8 million and deferred tax expense of $0.5 million.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Recent accounting pronouncements are detailed in Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 1
of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
The following table summarizes our cash flows:

Three Months Ended March 31,
2015 2014
(In thousands)

Consolidated Cash Flow Data
Net cash provided by operating activities $27,863 $19,375
Net cash used in investing activities (1,402 ) (1,873 )
Net cash used in financing activities (26,846 ) (33,506 )
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (1,776 ) 2
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents $(2,161 ) $(16,002 )
Our principal sources of liquidity are our cash and cash equivalents, as well as the cash flow we generate from our
operations. We believe that our sources of funding will be sufficient to satisfy our currently anticipated requirements
through the foreseeable future. Our liquidity could be negatively affected by a decrease in demand for our products
and services.
As of March 31, 2015, our principal source of liquidity consisted of $40.9 million in cash, the majority of which
represents cash generated from operating activities.
As of March 31, 2015, $10.9 million of the $40.9 million in cash on hand is held by foreign subsidiaries that would be
subject to income tax withholding payments if it was repatriated to the U.S. It is management's current intention that
all foreign earnings will be indefinitely reinvested in these foreign countries and will not be repatriated to the U.S.
However, if we were to repatriate these funds to the U.S., they would be subject to income tax payments ranging from
5% to 45% of the amount repatriated.
Our principal uses of cash primarily consists of cash paid for stock repurchases, business acquisitions, payroll and
other operating expenses and payments related to the investments in equipment primarily to support our consumer
panel and technical infrastructure required to support our customer base.
We have a Credit Agreement, which provides for a five-year revolving line of credit of $100.0 million and contains an
expansion option permitting the Company to request an increase of the credit facility up to an aggregate additional
$50.0 million, subject to certain conditions. The maturity date of the Credit Agreement is September 26, 2018.  The
interest rate for the credit facility is determined based on a formula using certain market rates. As of March 31, 2015,
we were in compliance with the financial covenant in the credit facility and no amounts were outstanding.
Operating Activities
Our primary source of cash provided by operating cash flows is subscription revenue generated by the sales
subscription-based products, customized projects, and software licenses. Our primary uses of cash from operating
activities include investments in personnel and infrastructure to support the anticipated growth in our business,
increases in the number of customers using our products and the amount and timing of payments made by these
customers.
Cash provided by operating activities is calculated by adjusting our net loss to exclude non-cash items such as
depreciation, amortization, provision for bad debts, stock-based compensation, and deferred taxes, as well as changes
in working capital.
Net cash provided by operating activities increased by $8.5 million during three months ended March 31, 2015
compared to the three months ended March 31, 2014, primarily due to a net increase of $14.5 million in stock based
compensation, offset primarily by the change in our net loss of $6.5 million.
Investing Activities
Cash provided by or used by investing activities primarily consists of purchases of computer network equipment to
support our Internet user panel and maintenance of our database, furniture and equipment to support our operations,
purchases and sales of marketable securities, and payments related to the acquisition of several companies. As our
customer base continues to expand, we expect purchases of technical infrastructure equipment to grow in absolute
dollars. The extent of these investments will be affected by our ability to expand relationships with existing customers,
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Net cash used in investing activities decreased by $0.5 million during the three months ended March 31, 2015
compared to the three months ended March 31, 2014, related to a decrease in the purchase of property and equipment.
         In order to achieve greater economies of scale and operating leverage as we expand our customer base and
utilize our Internet user panel and technical infrastructure more efficiently. We expect to continue to invest in our
Internet user panel, technical infrastructure and technical personnel to support the combination of an increased
customer base, new products, international expansion and new digital market intelligence formats. We believe that
these investment requirements will be less than the revenue growth generated by these actions, which should result in
a lower rate of growth in our capital expenditures to support our technical infrastructure. However, the amount of
capital expenditures has fluctuated and may continue to fluctuate on a quarterly basis.
Financing Activities

Cash used by financing activities primarily consist of repurchase of stock, net proceeds or payments and excess tax
benefits from stock based compensation or repayments of debt.

Net cash used in financing activities decreased by $6.7 million during the three months ended March 31, 2015
compared to the three months ended March 31, 2014 primarily driven by an increase in cash used for shares
repurchased to satisfy tax withholding obligations on restricted stock vests of $12.1 million offset by a reduction of
cash used for the purchase of common stock under our stock repurchase program of $17.7 million.

During the three months ended March 31, 2015 and March 31, 2014, respectively there were no borrowings or
repayments under our revolving credit facility.
We do not have any special purpose entities and we do not engage in off-balance sheet financing arrangements.
Contractual Obligations and Known Future Cash Requirements
Our principal lease commitments consist of obligations under leases for office space and computer and
telecommunications equipment. In current and prior periods, we financed the purchase of some of our computer
equipment under capital lease arrangements over a period of either 36 or 42 months. Our purchase obligations relate to
outstanding orders to purchase computer hardware and software, are typically small and do not materially impact our
overall liquidity.
We have a lease financing arrangement with Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC in the amount of $12.5
million, of which the Company can utilize approximately $7.4 million, as of March 31, 2015, for future capital leases.
This arrangement has been established to allow us to finance the purchase of new software, hardware and other
computer equipment as we expand our technology infrastructure in support of our business growth. During the three
months ended March 31, 2015, we incurred $0.7 million of additional borrowings under this financing arrangement.
Some of the amounts the Company has utilized to date under this arrangement have not lowered the amount available
for future capital leases, because those amounts have been assigned by Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC
under separate third-party arrangements. As of March 31, 2015, we have total outstanding amounts under this
arrangement and other arrangements with Banc of America of approximately $16.5 million. These leases bear an
interest rate of approximately 5% per annum. The base terms for these leases range from three years to three and a half
years and include a nominal charge in the event of prepayment. Lease payments, under the combined arrangements,
are approximately $17.3 million per year. Assets acquired under the equipment lease secure the obligations. In
addition to our leasing arrangement with Banc of America, we have also entered into a number of capital lease
arrangements with various equipment vendors. As of March 31, 2015, we have total borrowings under these
arrangements of $10.0 million.
As of March 31, 2015, $3.6 million in letters of credit were outstanding, leaving $6.4 million available for additional
letters of credit under the Credit Facility. These letters of credit may be reduced periodically provided we meet the
conditional criteria of each related lease agreement.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements (as defined in Item 303 of Regulation S-K).
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk
Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position due to adverse changes in financial
market prices and rates. We do not hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes or have any derivative
financial instruments. As of March 31, 2015, our cash reserves were maintained primarily in bank deposit accounts
totaling $40.9 million.
Foreign Currency Risk, Interest Rate Sensitivity and Liquidity Risk
A portion of our revenues and expenses from business operations in foreign countries are derived from transactions
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of our operations in those countries. We operate in
several countries in South America, including Brazil, Chile and Argentina as well as countries in Europe and the
United Kingdom. As such, we have exposure to adverse changes in exchange rates associated with revenues and
operating expenses of our foreign operations, but we believe this exposure to be immaterial at this time. We do not
currently engage in any transactions that hedge foreign currency exchange rate risk.
As we grow our international operations, and acquire companies with established business in international regions, our
exposure to foreign currency risk could become more significant. For example, at the beginning of 2015, the U.S.
Dollar to euro exchange rate was approximately $1.00 to €0.82. However, during the three months ended March 31,
2015, the range of the U.S. Dollar to euro exchange rate was as low as $1.00 to €0.82 and as high as $1.00 to €0.95.
During the three months ended March 31, 2015, the average U.S. Dollar to euro exchange rate was approximately
$1.00 to €0.89. There can be no guarantee that exchange rates will remain constant over the long-term. In addition to
the impact from the U.S. Dollar to euro exchange rate movements, we are also impacted by movements in the
exchange rates between the U.S. Dollar and various South American currencies as well as the Pound Sterling. In
addition, cash held overseas would be subject to income tax withholding payments if it was repatriated to the United
States. As of March 31, 2015, $10.9 million of the $40.9 million in cash on hand is held by foreign subsidiaries and
would be subject to income tax withholding payments if it was repatriated to the United States. If we were to
repatriate these funds to the United States, they would be subject to income tax payments ranging from 5% to 45% of
the amount repatriated.
The cash is held for working capital purposes. We believe that we do not have any material exposure to changes in the
fair value as a result of changes in interest rates. Declines in interest rates, however, will reduce future investment
income. If overall interest rates fell by 1% during the three months ended March 31, 2015, our interest income would
have declined by less than $0.1 million, assuming consistent investment levels.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, after evaluating the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Exchange Act) Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e)) as of the end of the period covered by this report (the Evaluation Date), have concluded that as of the
Evaluation Date, our disclosure controls and procedures are effective, in all material respects, to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file and submit under the Exchange Act (i) is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s
rule and forms and (ii) is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
We may become, a party to a variety of legal proceedings that arise in the normal course of our business. While the
results of such legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes that, based on current
knowledge, the final outcome of the current pending matters will not have a material adverse effect on our financial
position, results of operations or cash flows. We are not presently a party to any pending legal proceedings the
outcome of which we believe, if determined adversely to us, would individually or in the aggregate have a material
adverse impact on our consolidated results of operations, cash flows or financial position. Regardless of the outcome,
legal proceedings can have an adverse effect on us because of defense costs, diversion of management resources and
other factors.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
An investment in our common stock involves a substantial risk of loss. You should carefully consider these risk
factors, together with all of the other information included herewith, before you decide to purchase shares of our
common stock. The occurrence of any of the following risks could materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition or operating results. In that case, the trading price of our common stock could decline, and you may lose
part or all of your investment.
Risks Related to Our Business and Our Technologies
We derive a significant portion of our revenues from sales of our subscription-based digital media analytics products.
If our customers terminate or fail to renew their subscriptions, our business could suffer.
We currently derive a significant portion of our revenues from our subscription-based digital media analytics
products. Subscription-based products accounted for 92% and 90% of our revenues during the three months ended
March 31, 2015 and the year ended December 31, 2014. If our customers terminate their subscriptions for our
products, do not renew their subscriptions, delay renewals of their subscriptions or renew on terms less favorable to
us, our revenues could decline and our business could suffer.
Our customers have no obligation to renew after the expiration of their initial subscription period, which is typically
one year, and we cannot be assured that current subscriptions will be renewed at the same or higher dollar amounts, if
at all. Some of our customers have elected not to renew their subscription agreements with us in the past. If we
experience a change of control, as defined in such agreements, some of our customers also have the right to terminate
their subscriptions. Moreover, some of our major customers have the right to cancel their subscription agreements
without cause at any time. Furthermore, our new subscription products, for which revenue is recognized based on
impressions used, may be subject to higher fluctuations in revenue.
Given unpredictable economic conditions, our limited historical data with respect to rates of customer subscription
renewals, and the usage volumes for our impression based products, we may have difficulty accurately predicting
future customer renewal rates. Our customer renewal rates may decline or fluctuate as a result of a number of factors,
including customer satisfaction or dissatisfaction with our products, the costs or functionality of our products, the
prices or functionality of products offered by our competitors, the health of the digital advertising marketplace,
mergers and acquisitions affecting our customer base, general economic conditions or reductions in our customers’
spending levels.
Our quarterly results of operations may fluctuate in the future. As a result, we may fail to meet or exceed the
expectations of securities analysts or investors, which could cause our stock price to decline.
Our quarterly results of operations may fluctuate as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our
control. If our quarterly revenues or results of operations do not meet or exceed the expectations of securities analysts
or investors, the price of our common stock could decline substantially. In addition to the other risk factors set forth in
this “Risk Factors” section, factors that may cause fluctuations in our quarterly revenues or results of operations include:
•our ability to increase sales to existing customers and attract new customers;
•the potential loss or reduction in spending by significant customers;
•changes in our customers' subscription renewal behaviors and spending on projects;
•
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the impact on our contract renewal rates, for both our subscription and project-based products, caused by our
customers’ budgetary constraints, competition, customer dissatisfaction, customer corporate restructuring or change in
control, or our customers’ actual or perceived lack of need for our products;

•the timing of contract renewals, delivery of products and duration of contracts and the corresponding timing of
revenue recognition as well as the effects of revenue derived from recently-acquired companies;
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•variations in the demand for our products and the implementation cycles of our products by our customers;
•the challenges of persuading customers to switch from incumbent service providers;
•the timing of revenue recognition for usage-based or impression-based products;
•the mix of subscription-based versus project-based revenues;
•the effect of revenues generated from significant one-time projects or the loss of such projects;
•the timing and success of new product introductions by us or our competitors;
•changes in our pricing and discounting policies or those of our competitors;
•the impact of our decision to discontinue certain products;

•our failure to accurately estimate or control costs — including those incurred as a result of investments, other business or
product development initiatives, litigation, and the integration of acquisitions;

•the amount and timing of capital expenditures and operating costs related to the maintenance and expansion of our
operations and infrastructure;
•our ability to estimate revenues and cash flows associated with business operations acquired by us;

•the uncertainties associated with the integration of acquired new lines of business, and operations in countries in
which we may have little or no previous experience;
•the cost and timing of organizational restructuring, in particular in international jurisdictions;
•service outages, other technical difficulties or security breaches;
•limitations relating to the capacity of our networks, systems and processes;

•maintaining appropriate staffing levels and capabilities relative to projected growth, or retaining key personnel as a
result of the integration of recent acquisitions;
•adverse judgments or settlements in legal disputes;

•the extent to which certain expenses are more or less deductible for tax purposes, such as share-based compensation
that fluctuates based on the timing of vesting and our stock price;
•the timing of any additional reversal of our deferred tax valuation allowance;
•adoption of new accounting pronouncements; and

•general economic, political, industry and market conditions and those conditions specific to Internet usage and online
businesses.
We believe that our quarterly revenues and results of operations on a year-over-year and sequential
quarter-over-quarter basis may vary significantly in the future and that period-to-period comparisons of our operating
results may not be meaningful. Investors are cautioned not to rely on the results of prior quarters as an indication of
future performance.
Our business may be harmed if we deliver, or are perceived to deliver, inaccurate information to our customers, to the
media or to the public generally.
If the information that we provide to our customers, to the media, or to the public is inaccurate, or perceived to be
inaccurate, whether due to methodological approaches, errors, bias towards certain available data sources or partners,
our brand may be harmed. The information that we collect or that is included in our databases and the statistical
projections that we provide to our customers, to the media or to the public may contain or be perceived to contain
inaccuracies. These projections may be viewed as an important measure for the success of certain businesses,
especially those businesses with a large online presence. Any inaccuracy or perceived inaccuracy in the data reported
by us about such businesses may potentially affect the market perception of such businesses and result in claims or
litigation around the accuracy of our data, or the appropriateness of our methodology, may encourage aggressive
action on the part of our competitors, and could harm our brand. Any dissatisfaction by our customers or the media
with our digital media analytics, measurement or data collection and statistical projection methodologies, whether as a
result of inaccuracies, perceived inaccuracies or otherwise, could have an adverse effect on our ability to retain
existing customers and attract new customers and could harm our brand. Additionally, we could be contractually
required to pay damages, which could be substantial, to certain of our customers if the information we provide to them
is found to be inaccurate. Any liability that we incur or any harm to our brand that we suffer because of actual or
perceived irregularities or inaccuracies in the data we deliver to our customers could harm our business.
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Material defects or errors in our data collection and analysis systems could damage our reputation, result in significant
costs to us and impair our ability to sell our products.
Our data collection and analysis systems are complex and may contain material defects or errors. In addition, the large
amount of data that we collect may make our data collection and analysis systems more susceptible to defects or
errors.
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Moreover, as technology evolves across digital platforms, we may not be able to continue collection of certain data,
due to technological, privacy or other reasons.
Furthermore, we may become increasingly dependent upon third-party data provided by strategic partners for key
elements of our data sets. If our partners do not apply rigorous standards to their data collection methodology and
actions, notwithstanding our best efforts, we may receive third-party data that is inaccurate or defective.
Our customers rely on our data collection and analysis software and systems to gain business intelligence or to gain a
better understanding of their internal operations or performance. Any defect in our panelist data collection software,
our census collection systems, our data collection capabilities, our enterprise focused software and systems, network
systems, statistical projections or other methodologies could lead to consequences that could adversely impact
operating results, including:
•loss of customers;
•damage to our brand;

• interruptions in the availability of our
products;

•sales credits, refunds or liability to our customers;
•lost or delayed market acceptance and sales of our products;
•diversion of development resources;
•the incurrence of substantial costs to correct any material defect or error; and
•increased warranty and insurance costs.
Our insurance policies may not cover any claim against us for loss of data, unauthorized use of data, improper access
to data, inaccuracies in data or other indirect or consequential damages and defending a lawsuit, regardless of its
merit, could be costly and divert management’s attention. Adequate insurance coverage may not be available in the
future on acceptable terms, or at all. Any such developments could adversely affect our business and results of
operations.
We may lose customers or be liable to certain customers if we provide poor service or if our products do not comply
with our customer agreements.
Certain customers choose to purchase our services because of the client service that we provide, as well as the scope
of information and functionality of the products we provide. Our failure to meet these expectations could result in the
loss of customers or a reduction in their purchase of our products. In addition, we may be liable to certain of our
customers for damages they may incur resulting from these events, such as loss of business, loss of future revenues,
breach of contract or loss of goodwill to their business.

If we are unable to provide cross-media analytics, or if our cross-media analytics are incomplete or inaccurate, our
ability to grow or maintain our business may be harmed.
As the media and advertising industry looks to evaluate advertising campaigns across various forms of media, such as
television, radio, online, and mobile, the ability to measure the combined size and composition of audiences across
platforms is increasingly important and demanded.
Because a significant proportion of advertising dollars are spent on television, access to television data is a critical
component to cross-media analytics, and companies who have historically held a dominant market position measuring
television: such as Nielsen in the U.S., Kantar in certain countries outside the U.S., or providers selected by joint
industry committees in countries outside of the U.S., may need to be relied on to produce industry-accepted
measurement across a combination of media platforms. We have entered into an agreement to acquire and license
certain Nielsen Audio panel data and technology in the U.S., which provides us with access to both television and
radio data to support our cross-media services, however, if such panel data and technology is not sufficiently
maintained, we may suffer a reduction in the quality of our metrics. In addition, in 2015, we entered into a strategic
alliance with Kantar to collaborate on certain cross-media analytics, including television, outside the U.S. If we are
unable to secure licenses to data from industry-accepted providers of television measurement outside of the U.S., our
cross media analytics may be incomplete, and our ability to grow and maintain our business may be harmed.
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If we are unable to accurately measure or gain access to information or technology measuring a media component or
type at all or on commercially reasonable terms, our ability to meet our customers' demands and our business and
financial performance may be harmed. Furthermore, even if we do have access to cross-media data, if we have
insufficient technology, methodology or source materials to parse the information across such media components to
avoid duplications at all or in a cost-effective manner, our products may be inferior to other offerings, and we may be
unable to meet our customers' demands. In which case, our business and financial performance may be harmed. In
particular as mobile devices and technology
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continue to proliferate, gaining cost-effective access to mobile data will become increasingly critical, and the
difficulty in accessing these forms of data will continue to grow.
Our business may be harmed if we change our methodologies or the scope of information we collect.
We have in the past and may in the future change our methodologies, the methodologies of companies we acquire, or
the scope of information we collect. Such changes may result from identified deficiencies in current methodologies,
development of more advanced methodologies, changes in our business plans, changes in technology used by
websites, browsers, applications, servers, or media we measure, integration of acquired companies or expressed or
perceived needs of our customers or potential customers. Any such changes or perceived changes, or our inability to
accurately or adequately communicate to our customers and the media such changes and the potential implications of
such changes on the data we have published or will publish in the future, may result in customer dissatisfaction,
particularly if certain information is no longer collected or information collected in future periods is not comparable
with information collected in prior periods. As a result of future methodology changes, some of our existing customers
or customers of acquired entities may refuse to participate, or participate only in a limited fashion, and other
customers may become dissatisfied as a result of changes in our methodology and decide not to continue purchasing
their subscriptions or may decide to discontinue providing us with their web beacon or other server-side information.
Such customers may elect to publicly air their dissatisfaction with the methodological changes made by us, thereby
damaging our brand and harming our reputation. Additionally, we expect that we will need to further integrate new
capabilities with our existing methodologies if we develop or acquire additional products or lines of business in the
future. The resulting future changes to our methodologies, the information we collect, or the strategy we implement to
collect and analyze information, such as the movement away from pure panel-centric measurement to a hybrid of
panel- and site-centric measurement, may cause additional customer dissatisfaction and result in loss of customers.
If we are not able to maintain panels of sufficient size and scope, or if the costs of establishing and maintaining our
panels materially increase, our business could be harmed.
We believe that the quality, size and scope of our Internet, mobile and cross-media user panels are critical to our
business. There can be no assurance, however, that we will be able to maintain panels of sufficient size and scope to
provide the quality of marketing intelligence that our customers demand from our products. We anticipate that the cost
of panel recruitment will increase with the proliferation of proprietary and secure digital media platforms (whether
they be PC, mobile, tablet, or connected devices), and that the difficulty in collecting these forms of data will continue
to grow which may require significant hardware and software investments, as well as increases to our panel incentive
and panel management costs.
We may be required to establish new panels that are capable of providing us with information in the areas of mobile,
tablets, and other emerging technologies on which people are consuming media and content. We anticipate that this
may require significant hardware and software investments, and significant increases to our panel incentive and panel
management costs. We have historically acquired new panels, and were able to capitalize the cost of such acquisition.
If we are unable to use the same accounting approach in reporting the costs associated with establishing new panels
needed, our panel costs may significantly increase our cost of revenues in the future. To the extent that such additional
expenses are not accompanied by increased revenues, our operating margins may be reduced and our financial results
could be adversely affected.
Moreover, if we fail to maintain our existing or newly established panels of sufficient size and scope, including
coverage of international markets and users of various forms of digital platforms, customers might decline to purchase
our products or renew their subscriptions, our reputation could be damaged and our business could be materially and
adversely affected. We expect that our panel costs may increase and may comprise a greater portion of our cost of
revenues in the future. The costs associated with maintaining and improving the quality, size and scope of our panel
are dependent on many factors, many of which are beyond our control, including the participation rate of potential
panel members, the turnover among existing panel members and requirements for active participation of panel
members, such as completing survey questionnaires.
Concerns over privacy and the potential unauthorized disclosure of personal information, the classification of our
research software as “spyware” or “adware”, or privacy and data security claims made by our panelists to regulatory
agencies, or through the courts, may cause greater attrition within our existing research panel or may discourage
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potential panel members from participating in our research panels. In addition, as we seek to enforce our privacy
policies, we may be required to terminate relationships with service providers whose practices we believe may not
comply with our privacy policies, and have removed and may in the future remove panel members obtained through
such service providers.
If we fail to respond to technological developments, our products may become obsolete or less competitive.
Our future success will depend in part on our ability to modify or enhance our products and technologies to meet
customer needs, to add functionality and to address technological advancements. For example, if certain handheld
mobile devices become the primary mode of receiving content and conducting transactions on the Internet, and we are
unable to adapt to collect information from such devices, then we would not be able to report on online activity. To
remain competitive, we will
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need to develop new products that address these evolving technologies and standards across the universe of digital
media — including television, Internet, radio and mobile usage. However, we may be unsuccessful in identifying new
product opportunities or in developing or marketing new products in a timely or cost-effective manner or we may be
limited in our ability to operate by patents held by others. In addition, our product innovations may not achieve the
market penetration or price levels necessary for profitability. If we are unable to develop timely enhancements to, and
new features for, our existing methodologies or products or if we are unable to develop new products and technology
that keep pace with rapid technological developments or changing industry standards, our products may become
obsolete, less marketable and less competitive, and our business will be harmed.
Difficulties entering into arrangements with website owners, wireless communications operators and other entities
supporting server- and census-based methodologies may negatively affect our methodologies and harm our business.
We believe that our methodologies are enhanced by the ability to collect information using server-based web beacon
information and other census-level approaches. There can be no assurance, however, that we will be able to maintain
relationships with a sufficient number and scope of websites in order to provide the quality of marketing intelligence
that our customers demand from our products. If we fail to continue to expand the scope of our server-based data
collection approaches, customers might decline to purchase our products or renew their subscriptions, our reputation
could be damaged and our business could be adversely affected.
If we are unable to sell additional products to our existing customers or attract new customers, our revenue growth
will be adversely affected.
To increase our revenues, we believe we must sell additional products to existing customers, including existing
customers of acquired businesses, and regularly add new customers. If our existing and prospective customers do not
perceive our products to be of sufficient value and quality, we may not be able to increase sales to existing customers
and attract new customers, or we may have difficulty retaining existing customers, and our operating results will be
adversely affected.
If we are unable to effectively persuade prospective customers to buy our services in substitution for those of an
incumbent service provider, our revenue growth may suffer.
Some of our newer products and initiatives require that we persuade prospective customers, or customers of our
existing products, to buy our newer products in substitution for those of an incumbent service provider. In some
instances, the prospective customer may have built their systems and processes around the incumbent's products.
Persuading such prospective customers to switch service providers may be difficult and require longer sales cycles,
that will affect our ability to increase revenue in these areas. Moreover, the incumbent service provider may have the
ability to significantly discount its services or enter into long-term agreements, which would further impede our ability
to increase our revenues.
We may expand through investments in, acquisitions of, or the development of new products with assistance from
other companies, any of which may not be successful and may divert our management’s attention.
In recent years, we completed several strategic acquisitions. We also expect to continue to evaluate and enter into
discussions regarding a wide array of potential strategic transactions, including acquiring complementary products,
technologies or businesses. We also have entered into relationships with other businesses such as Kantar, Google,
Yahoo and Acxiom, in order to expand our product offerings. These relationships or transactions could involve
preferred or exclusive licenses, discount pricing or investments in other businesses, or to expand our sales capabilities.
These transactions could be material to our financial condition and results of operations, and though these transactions
may provide additional benefits, they may not be profitable immediately or in the long term. Negotiating any such
transactions could be time-consuming, difficult and expensive, and our ability to close these transactions may be
subject to regulatory or other approvals and other conditions that are beyond our control. Consequently, we can make
no assurances that any such transactions, investments or relationships, if undertaken and announced, would be
completed.
An acquisition, investment or business relationship may result in unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures.
In particular, we may encounter difficulties assimilating or integrating the businesses, technologies, products,
personnel or operations of the acquired companies, particularly if the key personnel of the acquired company choose
not to be employed by us, and we may have difficulty retaining the customers of any acquired business due to changes
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in management and ownership. Acquisitions may also disrupt our ongoing business, divert our resources and require
significant management attention that would otherwise be available for ongoing development of our business.
Moreover, we cannot assure you that the anticipated benefits of any acquisition, investment or business relationship
would be realized or that we would not be exposed to unknown liabilities. In connection with any such transaction, we
may:
•encounter difficulties retaining key employees of the acquired company or integrating diverse business cultures;
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•incur large charges or substantial liabilities, including without limitation, liabilities associated with products or
technologies accused or found to infringe third party intellectual property;
•issue shares of our capital stock as part of the consideration, which may be dilutive to existing stockholders;
•become subject to adverse tax consequences, substantial depreciation or deferred compensation charges;
•use cash that we may need in the future to operate our business;

•enter new geographic markets that subject us to different laws and regulations that may have an adverse impact on our
business;
•experience difficulties effectively utilizing acquired assets;

•
encounter difficulties integrating the information and financial reporting systems of acquired foreign businesses,
particularly those that operated under accounting principles other than those generally accepted in the United States
prior to the acquisition by us; and
•incur debt on terms unfavorable to us or that we are unable to repay.
The impact of any one or more of these factors could adversely affect our business or results of operations or cause the
price of our common stock to decline substantially.
Following an acquisition of another business, we may also be required to defer the recognition of revenue that we
receive from the sale of products that we acquired, or from the sale of bundles that include products that we acquired.
For instance, if we acquire a business and are not able to establish vendor specific objective evidence, or VSOE, for
any undelivered elements in the arrangement, we may be required to defer substantial portions of revenue and delay
recognition of those revenues. This may result in fluctuations in our operating results and may adversely affect both
revenues and operating margins in a given period or periods.
In addition, we may be required to disclose audited financial statements of acquired businesses within proscribed time
after the completion of the acquisition pursuant to SEC reporting requirements. If we encounter unforeseen difficulties
in obtaining these audited financial statements on a timely basis and cannot obtain relief from the SEC, we may lose
our eligibility to register future offerings on Form S-3, which may limit our ability to access the capital markets
quickly or effectively.
Future acquisitions or dispositions could also result in dilutive issuances of our equity securities, the incurrence of
debt, contingent liabilities, amortization expenses, or write-offs of goodwill, any of which could harm our financial
condition. In addition, acquisitions will generally result in us recognizing significant amounts of intangible assets. If
we experience significant declines in operating results associated with past, or future, acquisitions, and the anticipated
benefits of an acquisition is not expected to materialize, we may be required to perform impairment testing of our
long-lived assets, and ultimately may be required to record an impairment charge.
Our financial condition and results of operations could suffer if there is an additional impairment of goodwill or other
intangible assets with indefinite lives.
We are required to test intangible assets with indefinite lives, including goodwill, annually and on an interim basis if
an event occurs or there is a change in circumstance that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of reporting
units and intangible assets below their carrying values. When the carrying value of a reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds
its implied fair value of goodwill, a charge to operations is recorded. If the carrying amount of an intangible asset with
an indefinite life exceeds its fair value, a charge to operations is recognized. Either event would result in incremental
expenses for that quarter, which would reduce any earnings or increase any loss for the period in which the
impairment was determined to have occurred.
In connection with the preparation of our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014, we determined it
was necessary to record a $9.7 million non-cash impairment charge related to intangible assets associated with our
mobile operator business line. The impairment was based primarily on an analysis of estimated future cash flows
expected to be generated from those assets, which are classified as held for sale. In determining the impairment loss,
we recorded an amount equal to the excess of the assets’ carrying amount over its fair value as determined by an
analysis of discounted future cash flows.
Our goodwill impairment analysis is sensitive to changes in key assumptions used in our analysis, such as expected
future cash flows, the degree of volatility in equity and debt markets, and our stock price. If the assumptions used in
our analysis are not realized, it is possible that an impairment charge may need to be recorded in the future. We cannot
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impairment would have an adverse effect on our results of operations.
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Concern over spyware, data breaches and privacy, including any violations of privacy laws, perceived misuse of
personal information, or failure to adhere to the privacy commitments that we make, could cause public relations
problems, regulatory scrutiny, and potential class action lawsuits and could impair our ability to recruit panelists or
maintain panels of sufficient size and scope, which in turn could adversely affect our ability to provide our products.
Any perception of our practices as an invasion of privacy, whether legal or illegal, may subject us to public criticism,
regulatory scrutiny, and potential class action lawsuits. Media coverage and public discourse initiated by lawmakers
and regulators have increased the sensitivity of consumers to the collection, storage or use of personal information and
online usage information, and the possibility of an unauthorized use or disclosure of this information may create
negative public reaction related to our business practices. A shift in public acceptance of measurement technologies
such as third party cookies may have a chilling effect on businesses that collect or use online usage information
generally or substantially increase the cost of maintaining a business that collects or uses online usage information,
increase regulatory scrutiny and increase the potential of class action lawsuits. In response to marketplace concerns
about the usage of third party cookies and web beacons to track user behaviors, the major browsers have enabled
features that allow the user to limit the collection of certain data. We actively seek to prevent the inclusion of our
cookies and beacons on the lists of companies whose activities are automatically blocked without prior individual
review of those cookies and beacons by the end user.
A rise in data breaches has also led to an increased awareness of data security issues and may result in an increase in
legislative or regulatory requirements, which could in turn substantially increase the cost of businesses that maintain
data, and increase the potential of class action lawsuits. We actively seek outside audits and reviews of our data
protection policies to assure we are implementing best practices; however, these precautions may not prevent the
occurrence of a data breach.
Additionally, there is continuing public concern regarding certain kinds of downloadable software known as “spyware”
and “adware.” These concerns might cause users to refrain from downloading software from the Internet, including our
proprietary technology, if they inaccurately believe our software is “spyware” or “adware.” This could make it difficult to
recruit additional panelists or maintain a panel of sufficient size and scope to provide meaningful marketing
intelligence. In response to general spyware and adware concerns in the marketplace, numerous programs are
available, many of which are available for free, and that claim to identify, remove or block such software or activity.
Some anti-spyware programs have in the past identified, and may in the future identify, our software as spyware or
potential spyware applications. We actively seek to prevent the inclusion of our software on lists of spyware
applications or potential spyware applications and apply best industry practices for obtaining appropriate consent from
panelists, protect the privacy and confidentiality of our panelist data, and comply with existing privacy laws.
However, to the extent that we are not successful, and anti-spyware programs classify our software as spyware, a
potential spyware application, or third party service providers fail to comply with our privacy or data security
requirements, our brand may be harmed and users may refrain from downloading these programs, may uninstall our
software or pursue actions against us for damages.
For example, on August 23, 2011, we received notice that Mike Harris and Jeff Dunstan, individually and on behalf of
a class of similarly situated individuals, filed a lawsuit against comScore in the United States District Court for the
Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, alleging, among other things, violations by comScore of the Stored
Communications Act, the Electronic Communications Privacy Act, Computer Fraud and Abuse Act and the Illinois
Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Practices Act as well as unjust enrichment. The complaint sought unspecified
damages, including statutory damages per violation and punitive damages, injunctive relief and reasonable attorneys’
fees of the plaintiffs. In October 2012, the plaintiffs filed an amended complaint which, among other things, removed
the claim relating to alleged violations of the Illinois Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Practices Act. On April 2, 2013,
the District Court issued an order certifying a class for only three of the four claims, refusing to certify a class for
unjust enrichment.  On May 30, 2014, we and the plaintiffs proposed a tentative settlement subject to approval by the
District Court, and on October 1, 2014, the Court issued its final approval of those terms.  We were required to
establish a settlement fund from which class member claims, attorneys’ fees and incentive awards, costs, and
administrative expenses will be paid. We and our insurers contributed $14 million to the fund. The settlement also
required us to alter certain portions of our privacy policy and implement certain additional protocols to ensure that our
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privacy practices remain consistent with its disclosures to consumers. For the year ended December 31, 2014, we
recorded a loss of $3.5 million related to the settlement. Any resulting reputational harm, potential claims asserted
against us or decrease in the size or scope of our panel could reduce the demand for our products, increase the cost of
recruiting panelists, adversely affect our ability to provide our products to our customers or result in additional costs in
the form of settlement, judgments, restrictions on our business or diversion of resources to address and defend the
claims. Any of these adverse effects could harm our business and our operating results.
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Domestic or foreign laws, regulations or enforcement actions may limit our ability to collect and use information
about Internet users or restrict or prohibit our product offerings, causing a decrease in the value of our products and an
adverse impact on the sales of our products.
Our business could be adversely impacted by existing or future laws or regulations of, or actions by, domestic or
foreign regulatory agencies. For example, privacy concerns could lead to legislative, judicial and regulatory
limitations on our ability to collect, maintain and use information about Internet users in the United States and abroad.
Various state legislatures have enacted legislation designed to protect Internet users’ privacy, for example, by
prohibiting spyware. In recent years, similar legislation has been proposed in other states and at the federal level and
has been enacted in foreign countries, most notably by the European Union, which adopted a privacy directive
regulating the collection of personally identifiable information online and more recently, restricting the use of cookies
without opt-in consent by the user, and preserving an individual's right to be forgotten. The U.S. Congress and
regulators have expressed concern over the collection of Internet usage information, which started as part of a larger
initiative to regulate online behavioral advertising, but which has expanded in scope to a general concern over online
tracking and measurement. A similar concern has been raised by regulatory agencies in Europe. In addition, U.S. and
European lawmakers and regulators have expressed concern over the use of third party cookies or web beacons to
understand Internet usage. Additionally, the European Commission has issued a directive requiring the regulation of
cookies throughout the European Union, which will likely lead to the introduction of additional regulations that may
vary from country to country. Furthermore, the U.S. Federal and Trade Commission recently updated its regulatory
interpretation related to the Children's Online Privacy Protection Act, which applies new restrictions to the online
advertising market. These laws and regulations, if drafted or interpreted broadly, could be deemed to apply to the
technology we use, and could restrict our information collection methods, and the collection methods of third parties
from whom we may obtain data, or decrease the amount and utility of the information that we would be permitted to
collect. Even if such laws and regulations are not enacted, lawmakers and regulators may publicly call into question
the collection and use of Internet or mobile usage data and may affect vendors and customers’ willingness to do
business with us. In addition, our ability to conduct business in certain foreign jurisdictions, such as China, is
restricted by the laws, regulations and agency actions of those jurisdictions. The costs of compliance with, and the
other burdens imposed by, these and other laws or regulatory actions may prevent us from selling our products or
increase the costs associated with selling our products, and may affect our ability to invest in or jointly develop
products in the United States and in foreign jurisdictions.
In addition, failure to comply with these and other laws and regulations may result in, among other things,
administrative enforcement actions and fines, class action lawsuits and civil and criminal liability. State attorneys
general, governmental and non-governmental entities and private persons may bring legal actions asserting that our
methods of collecting, using and distributing website visitor information are illegal or improper, which could require
us to spend significant time and resources defending these claims. For example, some companies that collect, use and
distribute website visitor information have been the subject of governmental investigations and class-action lawsuits.
Any such regulatory or civil action that is brought against us, even if unsuccessful, may distract our management’s
attention, divert our resources, negatively affect our public image or reputation among our panelists and customers
and harm our business.
The impact of any of these current or future laws or regulations could make it more difficult or expensive to attract or
maintain panelists, particularly in affected jurisdictions, and could adversely affect our business and results of
operations.
Any unauthorized disclosure or theft of private information we gather could harm our business.
Unauthorized disclosure of personally identifiable information regarding website visitors, whether through breach of
our secure network by an unauthorized party, employee theft or misuse, or otherwise, could harm our business. If
there were an inadvertent disclosure of personally identifiable information, or customer confidential information, or if
a third party were to gain unauthorized access to the personally identifiable or customer confidential information we
possess, our operations could be seriously disrupted and we could be subject to claims or litigation arising from
damages suffered by panel members or pursuant to the agreements with our customers. In addition, we could incur
significant costs in complying with the multitude of state, federal and foreign laws regarding the unauthorized

Edgar Filing: COMSCORE, INC. - Form 10-Q

66



disclosure of personal information. Finally, any perceived or actual unauthorized disclosure of the information we
collect could harm our reputation, substantially impair our ability to attract and retain panelists and have an adverse
impact on our business.
The success of our business depends in large part on our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights.
We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, service mark, trademark and trade secret laws, as well as
confidentiality procedures and contractual restrictions, to establish and protect our proprietary rights, all of which
provide only limited protection. In addition, where we determine necessary, we pursue enforcement of our intellectual
property rights. Such enforcement action may cause us to incur costs, distract the attention of management, and result
in unfavorable public opinion or outcomes that are not in our favor, each of which could adversely affect our brand,
business and results of operations. While we have filed a number of patent applications and own approximately 80
issued patents worldwide, we cannot assure you that
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any additional patents will be issued with respect to any of our pending or future patent applications, nor can we
assure you that any patent issued to us will provide adequate protection, or that any patents issued to us will not be
challenged, invalidated, circumvented, or held to be unenforceable in actions against alleged infringers. Also, we
cannot assure you that any future trademark or service mark registrations will be issued with respect to pending or
future applications or that any of our registered trademarks and service marks will be enforceable or provide adequate
protection of our proprietary rights. Furthermore, adequate (or any) patent, trademark, service mark, copyright and
trade secret protection may not be available in every country in which our services are available.
We endeavor to enter into agreements with our employees and contractors and with parties with whom we do business
in order to limit access to and disclosure of our proprietary information. We cannot be certain that the steps we have
taken will prevent unauthorized use of our technology or the reverse engineering of our technology. Moreover, third
parties might independently develop technologies that are competitive to ours or that infringe upon our intellectual
property. In addition, the legal standards relating to the validity, enforceability and scope of protection of intellectual
property rights in Internet-related industries are uncertain and still evolving, both in the United States and in other
countries. The protection of our intellectual property rights may depend on our legal actions against any infringers
being successful. We cannot be sure any such actions will be successful, and any such action may be expensive and
divert considerable attention of our management team from the normal operation of our business.
An assertion from a third party that we are infringing its intellectual property, whether such assertions are valid or not,
could subject us to costly and time-consuming litigation or expensive licenses.
The Internet, mobile media, software and technology industries are characterized by the existence of a large number of
patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade secrets and by frequent litigation based on allegations of infringement or
other violations of intellectual property rights, domestically or internationally. As we grow and face increasing
competition, the probability that one or more third parties will make intellectual property rights claims against us
increases. In such cases, our technologies may be found to infringe on the intellectual property rights of others.
Additionally, many of our subscription agreements may require us to indemnify our customers for third-party
intellectual property infringement claims, which would increase our costs if we have to defend such claims and may
require that we pay damages and provide alternative services if there were an adverse ruling in any such claims.
Intellectual property claims could harm our relationships with our customers, deter future customers from subscribing
to our products or expose us to litigation, which could be expensive and divert considerable attention of our
management team from the normal operation of our business. Even if we are not a party to any litigation between a
customer and a third party, an adverse outcome in any such litigation could make it more difficult for us to defend
against intellectual property claims by the third party in any subsequent litigation in which we are a named party. Any
of these results could adversely affect our brand, business and results of operations.
With respect to any intellectual property rights claim against us or our customers, we may have to pay damages or
stop using technology found to be in violation of a third party’s rights. We may have to seek a license for the
technology, which may not be available on reasonable terms or at all, may significantly increase our operating
expenses or may significantly restrict our business activities in one or more respects. We may also be required to
develop alternative non-infringing technology, which could require significant effort and expense. Any of these
outcomes could adversely affect our business and results of operations. Even if we prove successful in defending
ourselves against such claims, we may incur substantial expenses and the active defense of such claims may divert
considerable attention of our management team from the normal operation of our business.
The market for digital media analytics is developing, and if it does not develop further, or develops more slowly than
expected, our business will be harmed.
The market for digital media analytics products is still developing, and it is uncertain whether these products will
maintain high levels of demand and increased market acceptance. Our success will depend to a substantial extent on
the willingness of companies to increase their use of such products and to continue use of such products on a
long-term basis. Factors that may affect market acceptance include:
•the reliability of digital media analytics products;
•public concern regarding privacy and data security;
•
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decisions of our customers and potential customers to develop digital media analytics internally rather than
purchasing such products from third-party suppliers like us;

•decisions by industry associations in the United States or in other countries that result in association-directed awards,
on behalf of their members, of digital measurement contracts to one or a limited number of competitive vendors;
•the ability to maintain high levels of customer satisfaction; and
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•the rate of growth in eCommerce, online advertising and digital media.
The market for our products may not develop further, or may develop more slowly than we expect or may even
contract, all of which could adversely affect our business and operating results.
We depend on third parties for data that is critical to our business, and our business could suffer if we cannot continue
to obtain data from these suppliers.
We rely on third-party data sources for information regarding certain activities such as television viewing and mobile
usage, as well as for information about offline activities of and demographic information regarding our panelists. The
availability and accuracy of this data is important to the continuation and development of our cross-media products,
products that use server- or census-based information as part of the research methodology, and products that link
online and offline activity. We may be required to enter into vendor relationships, strategic alliances, or even joint
ventures with some third-parties in order to obtain access to the data sources that we need. If this information is not
available to us at commercially reasonable terms, or is found to be inaccurate, it could harm our reputation, business
and financial performance.
If the digitally-based or cross-platform focused advertising and eCommerce markets develop more slowly than we
expect, our business will suffer.
Our future success will depend on continued growth in the use of the digitally based advertising, a cross-platform
focus to buying advertisement campaigns, a continued increase in eCommerce spending and the proliferation of the
Internet across platforms, including mobile and connected devices, for a wide variety of consumer activities. These
markets are evolving rapidly, and it is not certain that their current growth trends will continue.
The adoption of advertising across digital platforms, particularly by advertisers that have historically relied on
traditional offline media, requires the acceptance of new approaches to conducting business and a willingness to invest
in such new approaches. Moreover the decision to adopt a cross-platform approach to buying advertisement
campaigns, requires a change to buying approaches and a willingness to adopt new data analytics to assist in
evaluating such approaches, by advertisement buyers who traditionally focus on buying advertising campaigns
through one medium. Advertisers may perceive such new approaches to advertising or understanding advertising to be
less effective than traditional methods for marketing their products. They may also be unwilling to pay premium rates
for advertising that is targeted at specific segments of validated uses based on their demographic profile or Internet
behavior across digital media platforms. The digital media advertising and eCommerce markets may also be adversely
affected by privacy issues relating to such targeted advertising, including that which makes use of personalized
information, or online behavioral information. Furthermore, merchants using new digital media platforms may not be
able to establish digital commerce models that are cost effective and may not learn how to effectively compete with
other established websites or offline merchants. In addition, consumers may not continue to shift their spending on
goods and services from offline outlets to other forms of digital media. As a result, growth in the use of digital media
for eCommerce may not continue at a rapid rate, or digital media may not be adopted as a medium of commerce by a
broad base of customers or companies worldwide. Because of the foregoing factors, among others, the market for
cross-platform-focused digital media advertising and eCommerce, may not continue to grow at significant rates. If
these markets do not continue to develop, or if they develop more slowly than expected, our business may suffer.
Because our long-term success depends, in part, on our ability to expand the sales of our products to customers located
outside of the United States, our business will become increasingly susceptible to risks associated with international
operations.
In recent years, we acquired various businesses with substantial presence or clientele in multiple Latin American,
European, Asian and Middle Eastern countries. Prior to these acquisitions, we otherwise had limited experience
operating in markets outside of the United States. Our inexperience in operating our business outside of the United
States may increase the risk that the international expansion efforts in which we are engaged will not be successful. In
addition, conducting international operations subjects us to risks that we have not generally faced in the United States.
These risks include:
•recruitment and maintenance of a sufficiently large and representative panel both globally and in certain countries;

•difficulties and expenses associated with tailoring our products to local markets as may be required by local customers
and joint industry committees or similar industry organizations;
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countries or obtaining access to other necessary data sources;
•differences in customer buying behaviors;
•the burdens and expense of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws and regulations;
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•difficulties in staffing and managing international operations — including complex and costly hiring, disciplinary, and
termination requirements;
•the complexities of foreign value-added taxes and restrictions on the repatriation of earnings;
•reduced or varied protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;
•political, social and economic instability abroad, terrorist attacks and security concerns;
•fluctuations in currency exchange rates; and
•increased accounting and reporting burdens and complexities.
Additionally, operating in international markets require significant management attention and financial resources. We
cannot be certain that the investments and additional resources required to establish and maintain operations in other
countries will hold their value or produce desired levels of revenues or profitability. We cannot be certain that we will
be able to maintain and increase the size of the Internet user panel that we currently have in various countries, that we
will be able to recruit a representative sample for our audience measurement products, or that we will be able to enter
into arrangements with a sufficient number of website owners to allow us to collect server-based information for
inclusion in our digital media analytics products. In addition, there can be no assurance that Internet usage and
eCommerce will continue to grow in international markets. In addition, governmental authorities in various countries
have different views regarding regulatory oversight of the Internet.
The impact of any one or more of these risks could negatively affect or delay our plans to expand our international
business and, consequently, our future operating results.
Our growth depends upon our ability to retain existing large customers and add new large customers; however, to the
extent we are not successful in doing so, our ability to maintain profitability and positive cash flow may be impaired.
Our success depends in part on our ability to sell our products to large customers and on the renewal of the
subscriptions of those customers in subsequent years. For the three months ended March 31, 2015 and the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, we derived approximately 25%, 21% and 21%, respectively, of our total revenues from
our top 10 customers. Uncertain economic conditions or other factors, such as the failure or consolidation of large
customer companies, or internal reorganization or changes in focus, may cause certain large customers to terminate or
reduce their subscriptions. Moreover, certain recently acquired companies, have revenues highly concentrated in a few
large customers. The loss of any one or more of those customers could decrease our revenues and harm our current
and future operating results. The addition of new large customers or increases in sales to existing large customers may
require particularly long implementation periods and other significant upfront costs, which may adversely affect our
profitability. To compete effectively, we have in the past been, and may in the future be, forced to offer significant
discounts to maintain existing customers or acquire other large customers. In addition, we may be forced to reduce or
withdraw from our relationships with certain existing customers or refrain from acquiring certain new customers in
order to acquire or maintain relationships with important large customers. As a result, new large customers or
increased usage of our products by large customers may cause our profits to decline and our ability to sell our
products to other customers could be adversely affected.
Our annual effective income tax rate can change materially as a result of changes in our mix of U.S. and foreign
earnings and other factors, including changes in tax laws and changes made by regulatory authorities.

Our overall effective income tax rate is equal to our total tax expense as a percentage of total earnings before tax.
However, income tax expense and benefits are not recognized on a global basis but rather on a jurisdictional or legal
entity basis. Losses in one jurisdiction may not be used to offset profits in other jurisdictions and may cause an
increase in our tax rate. Income tax provision changes in statutory tax rates and laws, as well as ongoing audits by
domestic and international authorities, could affect the amount of income taxes and other taxes paid by us. For
example, legislative proposals to change U.S. taxation of non-U.S. earnings could increase our effective tax rate. Also,
changes in the mix of earnings (or losses) between jurisdictions and assumptions used in the calculation of income
taxes, among other factors, could have a significant effect on our overall effective income tax rate. In addition, our
effective tax rate would increase if we were unable to generate sufficient future taxable income in certain jurisdictions,
or if we were otherwise required to increase our valuation allowances against our deferred tax assets.
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We are subject to taxation in multiple jurisdictions. As a result, any adverse development in the tax laws of any of
these jurisdictions or any disagreement with our tax positions could have a material adverse effect on our business,
consolidated financial condition or results of operations.

We are subject to taxation in, and to the tax laws and regulations of, multiple jurisdictions as a result of the
international scope of our operations and our corporate entity structure. We are also subject to transfer pricing laws
with respect to our intercompany transactions, including those relating to the flow of funds among our companies.
Adverse developments in these laws or regulations, or any change in position regarding the application, administration
or interpretation thereof, in any applicable jurisdiction, could have a material adverse effect on our business,
consolidated financial condition or results of our operations. In addition, the tax authorities in any applicable
jurisdiction, including the U.S., may disagree with the positions we have taken or intend to take regarding the tax
treatment or characterization of any of our transactions. If any applicable tax authorities, including U.S. tax
authorities, were to successfully challenge the tax treatment or characterization of any of our transactions, it could
have a material adverse effect on our business, consolidated financial condition or results of our operations.
As our international operations grow, changes in foreign currencies could have an increased effect on our operating
results.
We operate in several countries in South America, including Brazil, Chile and Argentina as well as countries in
Europe and the United Kingdom. As such, a portion of our revenues and expenses from business operations in foreign
countries are derived from transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of our operations
in those countries. As such, we have exposure to adverse changes in exchange rates associated with revenues and
operating expenses of our foreign operations, but we do not currently enter into any hedging instruments that hedge
foreign currency exchange rate risk. As we grow our international operations, and acquire companies with established
business in international regions, our exposure to foreign currency risk could become more significant. For example,
at the beginning of 2015, the U.S. Dollar to euro exchange rate was approximately $1.00 to €0.82. However, during
2015, the range of the U.S. Dollar to euro exchange rate was as low as $1.00 to €0.82 and as high as $1.00 to €0.95.
During the three months ended March 31, 2015, the average U.S. Dollar to euro exchange rate was approximately
$1.00 to €0.89. There can be no guarantee that exchange rates will remain constant over the long-term. In addition to
the impact from the U.S. Dollar to euro exchange rate movements, we are also impacted by movements in the
exchange rates between the U.S. Dollar and various South American currencies as well as the Pound Sterling. In
addition, cash held overseas would be subject to income tax withholding payments if it was repatriated to the United
States. As of March 31, 2015, $10.9 million of the $40.9 million in cash on hand is held by foreign subsidiaries that
would be subject to income tax withholding payments if it was repatriated to the United States. If we were to
repatriate these funds to the United States, they would be subject to income tax payments ranging from 5% to 45% of
the amount repatriated.
The market for digital marketing products is highly competitive, and if we cannot compete effectively, our revenues
will decline and our business will be harmed.
The market for digital marketing products is highly competitive and is evolving rapidly. We compete primarily with
providers of digital media intelligence and related analytical products and services. We also compete with providers of
marketing services and solutions, with full-service survey providers and with internal solutions developed by
customers and potential customers. Our principal competitors include:

•
online advertising companies that provide measurement of online ad effectiveness and ad delivery used for billing
purposes, including Nielsen, DoubleClick (owned by Google), Atlas (owned by Facebook), and certain divisions and
products within Kantar (owned by WPP);
•full-service market research firms and survey providers that may measure online behavior and attitudes, including
Harris Interactive, Ipsos, Synnovate, GFK, certain divisions and products within Kantar (owned by WPP) and Nielsen;

•companies that provide advertising technology point solutions, including DoubleVerify, Integral ad Science, MOAT
and WhiteOps;
•
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companies that provide behavioral, attitudinal and qualitative advertising effectiveness, including Toluna/Nurago, 
DataLogix (being acquired by Oracle), Context Web's Aperture, Ipsos OTX, Dynamic Logic, Insight Express and
Marketing Evolution;

•

companies that provide audience ratings for TV, radio and other media that have extended or may extend their current
services, particularly in certain international markets, to the measurement of digital media, including Nielsen,
Arbitron (owned by Nielsen), certain divisions and products within Kantar, Rentrak and Taylor Nelson Sofres (owned
by WPP);

•
large and small companies that create proprietary data and analysis of consumers' online behavior, including Nielsen,
Effective Measures, Gemius, Compete Inc. (owned by WPP), Google, Inc., Hitwise (owned by Experian), Quantcast,
and Visible Measures;
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•
analytical services companies that provide customers with detailed information of behavior on their own data, content,
or web traffic, including Omniture (owned by Adobe), Coremetrics (owned by IBM), and WebTrends; and systems
providers including Accenture, HP, Pivotal, HortonWorks, Cloudera, and Terradata; and

•specialty information providers for certain industries that we serve, including Manhattan Research (healthcare) and
The Now Factory (telecommunications).
Some of our current competitors have longer operating histories, access to larger customer bases and substantially
greater resources than we do. As a result, these competitors may be able to devote greater resources to marketing and
promotional campaigns, panel retention, panel development or development of systems and technologies than we can.
In addition, some of our competitors may adopt more aggressive pricing policies or have started to provide some
services at no cost. Furthermore, large software companies, Internet portals and database management companies may
enter our market or enhance their current offerings, either by developing competing services or by acquiring our
competitors, and could leverage their significant resources and pre-existing relationships with our current and
potential customers. Finally, consolidation of our competitors could make it difficult for us to compete effectively.
If we are unable to compete successfully against our current and future competitors, we may not be able to retain and
acquire customers, and we may consequently experience a decline in revenues, reduced operating margins, loss of
market share and diminished value from our products.
We may encounter difficulties managing our growth and costs, which could adversely affect our results of operations.
We have experienced significant growth over the past several years in the U.S. and internationally. We have
substantially expanded our overall business, customer base, headcount, data collection and processing infrastructure
and operating procedures as our business has grown through both organic growth and acquisitions. From time to time,
as a result of acquisition integration initiatives, or through efforts to streamline our operations, we may reduce the
workforce or reassign personnel. Such actions may expose us to disruption by dissatisfied employees or
employee-related claims, including without limitation, claims by terminated employees that believe they are owed
more compensation than we believe these employees are due under our compensation and benefit plans, or claims
maintained internationally in jurisdictions whose laws and procedures differ from those in the United States.
We believe that we will need to continue to effectively manage and expand our organization, operations and facilities
in order to accommodate potential future growth or acquisitions and to successfully integrate acquired businesses. If
we continue to grow, either organically or through acquired businesses, our current systems and facilities may not be
adequate. Our need to effectively manage our operations and cost structure requires that we continue to assess and
improve our operational, financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures. For example, we may
be required to enter into leases for additional facilities or commit to significant investments in the build out of current
or new facilities to support our growth. If we are unable to effectively forecast our facilities needs or if we are unable
to sublease or terminate leases for unused space, we may experience increased unexpected costs. If we are not able to
efficiently and effectively manage our cost structure or are unable to find appropriate space to support our needs, our
business may be impaired.
Failure to effectively expand our sales and marketing capabilities could harm our ability to increase our customer base
and achieve broader market acceptance of our products.
Increasing our customer base and achieving broader market acceptance of our products will depend to a significant
extent on our ability to expand our sales and marketing operations. We expect to continue to rely on our direct sales
force to obtain new customers. We may expand or enhance our direct sales force both domestically and
internationally. We believe that there is significant competition for direct sales personnel with the sales skills and
technical knowledge that we require. Our ability to achieve significant growth in revenues in the future will depend, in
large part, on our success in recruiting, training and retaining sufficient numbers of direct sales personnel, and our
ability to cross train our existing sales force with the sales forces of acquired businesses so that the sales personnel
have the necessary information and ability to sell or develop sales prospects for both our products and the products of
recently-acquired companies. In general, new hires require significant training and substantial experience before
becoming productive. Our recent hires and planned hires may not become as productive as we require, and we may be
unable to hire or retain sufficient numbers of qualified individuals in the future in the markets where we currently
operate or where we seek to conduct business. Our business will be seriously harmed if the efforts to expand our sales
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and marketing capabilities are not successful or if they do not generate a sufficient increase in revenues.
If we fail to develop our brand, our business may suffer.
We believe that building and maintaining awareness of comScore and our portfolio of products in a cost-effective
manner is critical to achieving widespread acceptance of our current and future products and is an important element
in attracting new customers. We will also need to carefully manage the brands used by recently acquired businesses as
we integrate such

44

Edgar Filing: COMSCORE, INC. - Form 10-Q

77



Table of Contents

businesses into our own. We rely on our relationships with the media and the exposure we receive from numerous
citations of our data by media outlets to build brand awareness and credibility among our customers and the
marketplace. Furthermore, we believe that brand recognition will become more important for us as competition in our
market increases. Our brand’s success will depend on the effectiveness of our marketing efforts and on our ability to
provide reliable and valuable products to our customers at competitive prices. Our brand marketing activities may not
yield increased revenues, and even if they do, any increased revenues may not offset the expenses we incur in
attempting to build our brand. If we fail to successfully market our brand, we may fail to attract new customers, retain
existing customers or attract media coverage to the extent necessary to realize a sufficient return on our brand-building
efforts, and our business and results of operations could suffer.
We have a history of significant net losses, may incur significant net losses in the future and may not achieve
profitability.
We incurred net losses of $9.9 million, $2.3 million, and $11.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013
and 2012, respectively. As such we cannot assure you that we will be able to achieve, sustain or increase profitability
in the future, particularly if we engage in additional acquisition activity as we did in 2014 and 2011. As of March 31,
2015, we had an accumulated deficit of $100.4 million. Because a large portion of our costs are fixed, we may not be
able to reduce our expenses in response to any decrease in our revenues, which would adversely affect our operating
results. In addition, we expect operating expenses to increase as we implement certain growth initiatives, which
include, among other things, the development of new products, expansion of our infrastructure, plans for international
expansion and general and administrative expenses associated with being a public company. If our revenues do not
increase to offset these expected increases in costs and operating expenses, our operating results would be materially
and adversely affected. If we continue to incur significant net losses, we may not be able to realize certain deferred tax
assets associated with our net operating loss carryforwards. As of March 31, 2015, we estimate our federal and state
net operating loss carryforwards for tax purposes are approximately $27.8 million and $35.0 million, respectively.
You should not consider our revenue growth in recent periods as indicative of our future performance, as our
operating results for future periods are subject to numerous uncertainties.
We have limited experience with respect to our pricing model for our newer offerings, and if the fees we charge for
our products are unacceptable to our customers, our revenues and operating results will be harmed.
We have limited experience in determining the fees that our existing and potential customers will find acceptable for
our products, the products of companies that we recently acquired, and any potential products that are developed as a
result of the integration of our company with acquired companies. The majority of our customers purchase specifically
tailored subscription packages that are priced in the aggregate. Due to the level of customization of such subscription
packages, the pricing of contracts or individual product components of such packages may not be readily comparable
across customers or periods. Existing and potential customers may have difficulty assessing the value of our products
and services when comparing it to competing products and services. As the market for our products matures, or as
new competitors introduce new products or services that compete with ours, we may be unable to renew our
agreements with existing customers or attract new customers with the fees we have historically charged. As a result, it
is possible that future competitive dynamics in our market as well as global economic pressures may require us to
reduce our fees, which could have an adverse effect on our revenues, profitability and operating results.
System failures or delays in the operation of our computer and communications systems may harm our business.
Our success depends on the efficient and uninterrupted operation of our computer and communications systems and
the third-party data centers we use. Our ability to collect and report accurate data may be interrupted by a number of
factors, including our inability to access the Internet, the failure of our network or software systems, computer viruses,
security breaches or variability in user traffic on customer websites. A failure of our network or data gathering
procedures could impede the processing of data, cause the corruption or loss of data or prevent the timely delivery of
our products.
In the future, we may need to expand our network and systems at a more rapid pace than we have in the past. Our
network or systems may not be capable of meeting the demand for increased capacity, or we may incur additional
unanticipated expenses to accommodate these capacity demands. In addition, we may lose valuable data, be unable to
obtain or provide data on a timely basis or our network may temporarily shut down if we fail to adequately expand or
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in our network processing or loss of Internet user data may damage our reputation and result in the loss of customers,
and our business and results of operations could be adversely affected.
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We rely on a small number of third-party service providers to host and deliver our products, and any interruptions or
delays in services from these third parties could impair the delivery of our products and harm our business.
We host our products and serve all of our customers from data center facilities located throughout the United States
and Europe. While we operate our equipment inside these facilities, we do not control the operation of these facilities,
and, depending on service level requirements, we may not continue to operate or maintain redundant data center
facilities for all of our products or for all of our data, which could increase our vulnerability. These facilities are
vulnerable to damage or interruption from earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, fires, power loss, telecommunications
failures and similar events. They are also subject to break-ins, computer viruses, sabotage, intentional acts of
vandalism and other misconduct. A natural disaster or an act of terrorism, a decision to close the facilities without
adequate notice or other unanticipated problems could result in lengthy interruptions in availability of our products.
We may also encounter capacity limitations at our third-party data centers. Additionally, our data center facility
agreements are of limited durations, and our data center facilities have no obligation to renew their agreements with us
on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. Our agreements for our various data center facilities expire at various
dates through September 2018. We believe that we have good relationships with our data center facility vendors and
believe that we will be able to renew, or find alternative data center facilities, at commercially reasonable terms.
Although we are not substantially dependent on our data center facilities because of planned redundancies, and
although we currently are able to migrate to alternative data centers, such a migration may result in an interruption or
delay in service. If we are unable to renew our agreements with the owners of the facilities on commercially
reasonable terms, or if we migrate to a new data center, we may experience delays in delivering our products until an
agreement with another data center facility can be arranged or the migration to a new facility is completed.
If we or the third-party data centers that we use were to experience a major power outage, we would have to rely on
back-up generators, which may not function properly, and their supply may be inadequate. Such a power outage could
result in the disruption of our business. Additionally, if our current facilities fail to have sufficient cooling capacity or
availability of electrical power, we would need to find alternative facilities.
We currently leverage a large content delivery network, or CDN, to provide services that allow us to offer a more
efficient tagging methodology for certain subscription based measurement and analytics product offerings. If that
service faced unplanned outage or the service became immediately unavailable, an alternate CDN provider or
additional capacity in our data centers would need to be established to support the large volume of tag requests that we
currently manage which would either require additional investments in equipment and facilities or a transition plan.
This could unexpectedly raise the costs and could contribute to delays or losses in tag data that could affect the quality
and reputation of our Media Metrix, vCE, and other data products that involve the measurement of a large amount of
digitally transmitted activity across multiple providers.
Further, we depend on access to the Internet through third-party bandwidth providers to operate our business. If we
lose the services of one or more of our bandwidth providers for any reason, we could experience disruption in the
delivery of our products or be required to retain the services of a replacement bandwidth provider. It may be difficult
for us to replace any lost bandwidth on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, due to the large amount of bandwidth
our operations require.
Any errors, defects, disruptions or other performance problems with our products caused by third parties could harm
our reputation and may damage our business. Interruptions in the availability of our products may reduce our revenues
due to increased turnaround time to complete projects, cause us to issue credits to customers, cause customers to
terminate their subscription and project agreements or adversely affect our renewal rates. Our business would be
harmed if our customers or potential customers believe our products are unreliable.
Laws related to the regulation of the Internet could adversely affect our business.
Laws and regulations that apply to communications and commerce over the Internet are becoming more prevalent. In
particular, the growth and development of the market for eCommerce has prompted calls for more stringent tax,
consumer protection and privacy laws in the United States and abroad that may impose additional burdens on
companies conducting business online. The adoption, modification or interpretation of laws or regulations relating to
the Internet or our customers’ digital operations could negatively affect the businesses of our customers and reduce
their demand for our products. Even if such laws and regulations are not enacted, lawmakers and regulators may
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publicly call into question the collection and use of Internet or mobile usage data and may affect vendors and
customers’ willingness to do business with us.
Taxing authorities may successfully assert that we should have collected or in the future should collect sales and use,
value added or similar taxes, and we could be subject to liability with respect to past or future sales, which could
adversely affect our results of operations.
We do not collect sales and use, value added and similar taxes in all jurisdictions in which we have sales. Sales and
use, value added and similar tax laws and rates vary greatly by jurisdiction. Certain jurisdictions in which we do not
collect such
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taxes may assert that such taxes are applicable, which could result in tax assessments, penalties and interest, and we
may be required to collect such taxes in the future. Such tax assessments, penalties and interest or future requirements
may adversely affect the results of our operations.
If we fail to respond to evolving industry standards, our products may become obsolete or less competitive.
The market for our products is characterized by rapid technological advances, changes in customer requirements,
changes in protocols and evolving industry standards. For example, industry associations such as the Advertising
Research Foundation, the Council of American Survey Research Organizations, the Internet Advertising Bureau, or
IAB, and the Media Rating Council have independently initiated efforts to either review online market research
methodologies or to develop minimum standards for online market research. In April 2011, comScore Direct was
accredited by the Media Rating Council. Any standards adopted by U.S or internationally, based industry associations,
may lead to costly changes to our procedures and methodologies. As a result, the cost of developing our digital media
analytics products could increase. If we do not adhere to standards prescribed by the IAB or other industry
associations, our customers could choose to purchase products from competing companies that meet such standards.
Furthermore, industry associations based in countries outside of the United States often endorse certain vendors or
methodologies. If our methodologies fail to receive an endorsement from an important industry association located in
a foreign country, advertising agencies, media companies and advertisers in that country may not purchase our
products. As a result, our efforts to further expand internationally could be adversely affected.
The success of our business depends on the continued growth of the Internet as a medium for commerce, content,
advertising and communications.
Expansion in the sales of our products depends on the continued acceptance of the digital media as a platform for
commerce, content, advertising and communications. The use of the digital media as a medium for commerce,
content, advertising and communications could be adversely impacted by delays in the development or adoption of
new standards and protocols to handle increased demands of digital media activity, security, reliability, cost,
ease-of-use, accessibility and quality-of-service. The performance of the Internet and its acceptance as a medium for
commerce, content, advertising and communications has been harmed by viruses, worms, and similar malicious
programs, and the Internet has experienced a variety of outages and other delays as a result of damage to portions of
its infrastructure. If for any reason digital media does not remain a medium for widespread commerce, content,
advertising and communications, the demand for our products would be significantly reduced, which would harm our
business.
We rely on our management team and may need additional personnel to grow our business; the loss of one or more
key employees or the inability to attract and retain qualified personnel could harm our business.
Our success and future growth depends to a significant degree on the skills and continued services of our management
team. Our future success also depends on our ability to retain, attract and motivate highly skilled technical,
managerial, marketing and customer service personnel, including members of our management team. All of our
employees work for us on an at-will basis. We plan to hire additional personnel in all areas of our business,
particularly for our sales, marketing and technology development areas, both domestically and internationally, which
will likely increase our recruiting and hiring costs. Competition for these types of personnel is intense, particularly in
the Internet and software industries. As a result, we may be unable to successfully attract or retain qualified personnel.
Our inability to retain and attract the necessary personnel could adversely affect our business.
Investors could lose confidence in our financial reports, and our business and stock price may be adversely affected, if
our internal control over financial reporting is found by management or by our independent registered public
accounting firm not to be adequate or if we disclose significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in those controls.
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires us to include a report on our internal control over financial
reporting in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. That report includes management’s assessment of the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting as of the end the fiscal year. Additionally, our independent registered
public accounting firm is required to issue a report on their evaluation of the operating effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting.
We continue to evaluate our existing internal controls against the standards adopted by the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board, or PCAOB. During the course of our ongoing evaluation of our internal controls, we
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have in the past identified, and may in the future identify, areas requiring improvement, and may have to design
enhanced processes and controls to address issues identified through this review. Remedying any significant
deficiencies or material weaknesses that we or our independent registered public accounting firm may identify could
require us to incur significant costs and expend significant time and management resources. We cannot assure you that
any of the measures we may implement to remedy any such deficiencies will effectively mitigate or remedy such
deficiencies. Further, if we are not able to complete the assessment
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under Section 404 in a timely manner or to remedy any identified material weaknesses, we and our independent
registered public accounting firm would be unable to conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is
effective at the required reporting deadlines. If our internal control over financial reporting is found by management or
by our independent registered public accountant to not be adequate or if we disclose significant existing or potential
deficiencies or material weaknesses in those controls, investors could lose confidence in our financial reports, we
could be subject to sanctions or investigations by The NASDAQ Global Market, the Securities and Exchange
Commission or other regulatory authorities and our stock price could be adversely affected.
In future periods, we may upgrade our financial reporting systems and implement new information technology
systems to better manage our business, streamline our financial reporting and enhance our existing internal controls.
We may experience difficulties if we transition to new or upgraded systems, including loss of data and decreases in
productivity as our personnel become familiar with new systems. In addition, we expect that our existing management
information systems may require modification and refinement as we grow and our business needs change. Any
modifications could prolong difficulties we experience with systems transitions, and we may not always employ the
most efficient or effective systems for our purposes. If upgrades cost more or take longer than we anticipate, our
operating results could be adversely affected. Moreover, if we experience difficulties in implementing new or
upgraded information systems or experience system failures, or if we are unable to successfully modify our
management information systems to respond to changes in our business needs, our ability to timely and effectively
process analyze and prepare financial statements could be adversely affected.
A determination that there is a significant deficiency or material weakness in the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting could also reduce our ability to obtain financing or could increase the cost of any financing we
obtain and require additional expenditures to comply with applicable requirements.
Our net operating loss carryforwards may expire unutilized or underutilized, which could prevent us from offsetting
future taxable income.
We have previously experienced “changes in control” that have triggered the limitations of Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code on a portion of our net operating loss carryforwards. As a result, we may be limited in the amount of
net operating loss carryforwards that we can use in the future to offset taxable income for U.S. Federal income tax
purposes.
As of March 31, 2015, we estimate our federal and state net operating loss carryforwards for tax purposes are
approximately $27.8 million and $35.0 million, respectively. These net operating loss carryforwards will begin to
expire in 2023 for federal income tax reporting purposes and in 2015 for state income tax reporting purposes.
In addition, at March 31, 2015 we estimate our aggregate net operating loss carryforwards for tax purposes related to
our foreign subsidiaries are $11 million, which begin to expire in 2017.
We apply a valuation allowance to certain deferred tax assets when management does not believe that it is
more-likely-than-not that they will be realized. In assessing the need for any valuation allowances, we consider the
reversal of existing temporary differences associated with deferred tax assets and liabilities, future taxable income, tax
planning strategies and historical and future pre-tax book income (as adjusted for permanent differences between
financial and tax accounting items) in order to determine if it is more likely than not that the deferred tax asset will be
realized. For example, we have had several recent years of pre-tax losses, and further losses may present evidence that
our net operating loss carryforwards may not be realized in future periods.
As of March 31, 2015, we had a valuation allowance related to the deferred tax assets (primarily net operating loss
carryforwards) of our foreign subsidiary in Spain that is a loss company, the deferred tax asset related to our U.S.
capital loss carryforwards, and the deferred tax asset related to certain state net operating loss carryforwards.
Management will continue to evaluate the deferred tax position of our U.S. and foreign companies to determine the
appropriate level of valuation allowance required against our deferred tax assets.
Restrictive covenants in the agreements governing our current and future indebtedness could restrict our operating
flexibility.
The agreements governing our existing debt, and debt we may incur in the future, contain, or may contain, affirmative
and negative covenants that materially limit our ability to take certain actions, including our ability to incur debt, pay
dividends and repurchase stock, make certain investments and other payments, enter into certain mergers and
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financing or to refinance our outstanding indebtedness on terms acceptable to us or at all.
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We may require additional capital to support business growth, and this capital may not be available on acceptable
terms or at all.
We intend to continue to make investments to support our business growth and may require additional funds to
respond to business challenges, including the need to develop new products or enhance our existing products, enhance
our operating infrastructure and acquire complementary businesses and technologies.
Accordingly, we may need to engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. If we raise additional
funds through further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer
significant dilution, and any new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to
those of holders of our common stock. Any debt financing secured by us in the future could include restrictive
covenants relating to our capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more
difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. In
addition, we may not be able to obtain additional financing on terms favorable to us or at all. If we are unable to
obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us when we require it, our ability to continue to
support our business growth and to respond to business challenges could be significantly limited. In addition, the
terms of any additional equity or debt issuances may adversely affect the value and price of our common stock.
Risks Related to the Securities Market and Ownership of our Common Stock
The trading price of our common stock may be subject to significant fluctuations and volatility, and our new
stockholders may be unable to resell their shares at a profit.
The stock markets, in general, and the markets for technology stocks in particular, have experienced high levels of
volatility. The market for technology stocks has been extremely volatile and frequently reaches levels that bear no
relationship to the past or present operating performance of those companies. These broad market fluctuations may
adversely affect the trading price of our common stock. In addition, the trading price of our common stock has been
subject to significant fluctuations and may continue to fluctuate or decline.
The price of our common stock in the market may be higher or lower than the price you pay, depending on many
factors, some of which are beyond our control and may not be related to our operating performance. It is possible that,
in future quarters, our operating results may be below the expectations of analysts or investors. As a result of these
and other factors, the price of our common stock may decline, possibly materially. These fluctuations could cause you
to lose all or part of your investment in our common stock. Factors that could cause fluctuations in the trading price of
our common stock include the following:
•price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time;
•volatility in the market price and trading volume of technology companies and of companies in our industry;
•actual or anticipated changes or fluctuations in our operating results;
•actual or anticipated changes in expectations regarding our performance by investors or securities analysts;
•the failure of securities analysts to cover our common stock or changes in financial estimates by analysts;
•actual or anticipated developments in our competitors’ businesses or the competitive landscape;
•actual or perceived inaccuracies in, or dissatisfaction with, information we provide to our customers or the media;
•litigation involving us, our industry or both;
•regulatory developments;
•privacy and security concerns, including public perception of our practices as an invasion of privacy;
•general economic conditions and trends;
•major catastrophic events;
•sales of large blocks of our stock;
•the timing and success of new product introductions or upgrades by us or our competitors;
•changes in our pricing policies or payment terms or those of our competitors;
•concerns relating to the security of our network and systems;

•our ability to expand our operations, domestically and internationally, and the amount and timing of expenditures
related to this expansion; or
•departures of key personnel.
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litigation has often been brought against that company. If our stock price is volatile, we may become the target of
securities litigation,
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which could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and resources from our business. In
addition, volatility, lack of positive performance in our stock price or changes to our overall compensation program,
including our equity incentive program, may adversely affect our ability to retain key employees.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they issue an adverse or
misleading opinion regarding our stock, our stock price and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities
analysts publish about us or our business. If any of the analysts who cover us issue an adverse or misleading opinion
regarding our stock, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of our
company or fail to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn
could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.
We have incurred and will continue to incur increased costs and demands upon management as a result of complying
with the laws and regulations affecting a public company, which could adversely affect our operating results.
As a public company, we have incurred and will continue to incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses
that we would not otherwise incur if we were a private company. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, as well as rules implemented by the Securities and
Exchange Commission and The NASDAQ Stock Market, requires certain corporate governance practices for public
companies. Our management and other personnel devote a substantial amount of time to public reporting requirements
and corporate governance. These rules and regulations have significantly increased our legal and financial compliance
costs and made some activities more time-consuming and costly. We also have incurred additional costs associated
with our public company reporting requirements. If these costs do not continue to be offset by increased revenues and
improved financial performance, our operating results would be adversely affected. These rules and regulations also
make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we may be
required to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar
coverage if these costs continue to rise. As a result, it may be more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified people
to serve on our board of directors or as executive officers.
Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and under Delaware law might discourage, delay or prevent a
change of control of our company or changes in our management and, therefore, depress the trading price of our
common stock.
Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could depress the trading price of our common
stock by acting to discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our company or changes in our management that
the stockholders of our company may deem advantageous. These provisions:
•provide for a classified board of directors so that not all members of our board of directors are elected at one time;

•authorize “blank check” preferred stock that our board of directors could issue to increase the number of outstanding
shares to discourage a takeover attempt;

•prohibit stockholder action by written consent, which means that all stockholder actions must be taken at a meeting of
our stockholders;
•prohibit stockholders from calling a special meeting of our stockholders;
•provide that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter or repeal our bylaws; and

• provide for advance notice requirements for nominations for elections to our board of directors or for
proposing matters that can be acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meetings.

Additionally, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which prohibits a Delaware
corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with any “interested” stockholder for a
period of three years following the date on which the stockholder became an “interested” stockholder and which may
discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our company.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

(a) Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities during the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 
On April 1, 2015, we issued 4,438,353 shares of our Common Stock to WPP pursuant to the terms of a Stock
Purchase Agreement. These shares were issued in a private placement exempt from the registration requirements of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Act") pursuant to section 4(2) of the Act because the issuances were
pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement not involving a public offering.
(b) Use of Proceeds from Sale of Registered Equity Securities
None.
(c) Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers
During the three months ended March 31, 2015, we repurchased the following shares of common stock:

Total Number of
Shares (or Units)
Purchased (1)

Average Price
Per
Share (or Unit)

Total
Number of
Shares (or
Units)
Purchased as
Part
of Publicly
Announced
Plans of
Programs (2)

Maximum
Number (or
Approximate
Dollar
Value) of
Shares
(or Units)  that
May
Yet Be
Purchased
Under the
Plans or
Programs (in
millions) (2)

January 1 - January 31, 2015 36,561 $40.68 36,161 $47.6
February 1 - February 28, 2015 295,221 $50.30 21,200 $46.5
March 1 - March 31, 2015 181,307 $50.06 23,300 $45.4
       Total 513,089 80,661 $45.4

(1)

The shares included in the table above were repurchased either in connection with (i) our exercise of the repurchase
right afforded to us in connection with certain employee restricted stock awards (ii) the forfeiture of shares by an
employee as payment of the minimum statutory withholding taxes due upon the vesting of certain employee
restricted stock and restricted stock unit awards or (iii) pursuant to our share repurchase programs described in
further detail in footnote (2) to this table.

(i) For the three months ended March 31, 2015, the shares repurchased in connection with our exercise of the
repurchase right afforded to us upon the cessation of employment consisted of the following:

Total Number of
Shares Purchased

Average Price
Per Share

January 1 - January 31, 2015 400 $—
February 1 - February 28, 2015 1,250 $—
March 1 - March 31, 2015 — $—
       Total 1,650
(ii) The shares we repurchased in connection with the payment of minimum statutory withholding taxes due upon the
vesting of certain restricted stock and restricted stock unit awards were repurchased at the then current fair market
value of the shares. For the three months ended March 31, 2015, these shares consisted of the following:

Total Number of Average Price
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January 1 - January 31, 2015 — $—
February 1 - February 28, 2015 272,771 $50.35
March 1 - March 31, 2015 158,007 $50.16
       Total 430,778
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(2)    As part of the Company's share repurchase program, shares may be purchased in open market transactions or
pursuant to any trading plan that may be adopted in accordance with Rule 10b5-1 of the Exchange Act. The timing,
manner, price and amount of any repurchases will be determined at our discretion, and the share repurchase program
may be suspended, terminated or modified at any time for any reason. Shares repurchased are classified as Treasury
Stock. Details of the share repurchases during the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 under the Company's
share repurchase program were as follows:

Three Months Ended March 31,
2015 (1) 2014 (2)

(Amounts in millions, except share and per share data)

Total number of shares repurchased 80,661 755,373
Average price paid per share 46.56 $28.46
Total value of shares repurchased (as measured at time of repurchase) $3.7 million $21.5 million
(1) June 2014 Share Repurchase Program
On June 5, 2014 the Company announced that its board of directors had approved the repurchase of up to an
additional $50.0 million of our common stock. Such repurchases may be made from time to time subject to
pre-determined price and volume guidelines established by our board of directors and commenced on June 6, 2014. As
of March 31, 2015, there was $45.4 million remaining under the share repurchase program.
(2) June 2013 Share Repurchase Program
On June 3, 2013 the Company announced that its board of directors had approved the repurchase of up to $50 million
of the Company's common stock. Such repurchases may be made from time to time subject to pre-determined price
and volume guidelines established by the Company's board of directors and commenced on June 4, 2013. As of
March 31, 2014, there was $28.5 million remaining under the share repurchase program. This repurchase program
concluded on May 29, 2014 and resulted in the repurchase of $49.4 million of shares (as measured at the time of
repurchase).

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not Applicable.
Item 5. Other Information
None.

Item 6. Exhibits
The exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index attached hereto are filed or incorporated by reference (as stated therein) as
part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

comScore, Inc.

/s/ Melvin Wesley III
Melvin Wesley III
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and
Duly Authorized Officer)

Date: May 5, 2015 
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
No.

Exhibit
Document

2.1(1) *
Stock Purchase Agreement by and among Cavendish Square Holding B.V., WPP Group
USA, Inc., comScore, Inc. and CS Worldnet Holding B.V. date February 11, 2015 (Exhibit
(d)(1))

3.1(2) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (Exhibit 3.3)

3.2(2) Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (Exhibit 3.4)

10.1(3) Summary of 2015 Named Executive Officer Incentive Plan

10.1(1) Strategic Alliance Agreement, dated as of February 11, 2015, by and between comScore,
Inc. and WPP Group USA, Inc. (Exhibit (d)(5))

10.3(1) Stockholder Rights Agreement by and among Cavendish Square Holding B.V., WPP Group
USA, Inc. and comScore, Inc. dated February 11, 2015 (Exhibit (d)(3)

10.4(1) Voting Agreement by and among Cavendish Square Holding B.V., WPP Group USA, Inc.,
and comScore, Inc. dated February 11, 2015 (Exhibit (d)(4))

10.5(4) Stock Purchase Agreement by and between Cavendish Square Holding B.V. and comScore,
Inc. dated April 1, 2015

10.1 Transition Agreement between the Company and Kenneth J. Tarpey, dated May 5, 2014

31.1
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101(5)

Interactive Data Files Pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T: (i) Consolidated Statements
of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, (ii) Consolidated
Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, (iii) Consolidated Statements
of Stockholders’ Equity for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, (iv)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and
2014 and (v) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements XBRL Exhibits.
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* The registrant has omitted certain immaterial schedules and exhibits to this exhibit pursuant to the provisions of
Regulation S-K, Item 601 (b)(2). The schedule of exhibits omitted is included in such agreement. The registrant shall
supplementary furnish a copy of any of the omitted schedules to the Commission upon request.

(1)
Incorporated by reference to exhibits filed with that certain Schedule TO filed with the Commission by Purchaser
and WPP on February 20, 2015. The number given in parentheses indicates the corresponding exhibit number in
such filing.

(2)
Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended, dated
June 26, 2007 (No. 333-141740). The number given in parentheses indicates the corresponding exhibit number in
such Form S-1.

(3)Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed February 17, 2015 (File No.
001-33520).

(4)Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed April 3, 2015 (File No.
001-33520).

(5)

In accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the information in these exhibits is furnished and deemed not
filed or a part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of
1933, is deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act of 1934, and otherwise is not subject to
liability under these sections and shall not be incorporated by reference into any registration statement or other
document filed under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, except as expressly set forth by specific reference in
such filing.
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